LAPLACE ADOMIAN SOLUTIONS TO FRACTIONAL DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS THAT ARISES IN NATURAL SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING APPLICATIONS

by Fatima H. Rabah

A Thesis presented to the Faculty of the American University of Sharjah College of Arts and Sciences in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

> Master of Science in Mathematics

> > Sharjah, UAE June 2022

Declaration of Authorship

I declare that this (project/thesis/dissertation) is my own work and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it does not contain material published or written by a third party, except where permission has been obtained and/or appropriately cited through full and accurate referencing.

Signature

Fatima H. Rabah

Date

19/04/2022

The Author controls copyright for this report. Material should not be reused without the consent of the author. Due acknowledgement should be made where appropriate.

> © Year 2022 Fatima H. Rabah ALL RIGHTS RESERVE

Approval Signatures

We, the undersigned, approve the Master's Thesis of Fatima Rabah

Thesis Title: Laplace Adomian Solutions to Fractional Differential Equations that Arise in Natural Science and Engineering Applications

Date of Defense: 09-Jun-2022

Name, Title and Affiliation

Signature

Dr. Marwan Abukhaled Professor, Department of Mathematics & Statistics Thesis Advisor

Dr. Suheil Khoury Professor, Department of Mathematics & Statistics Thesis Co-advisor

Dr. Issam Louhichi Associate Professor, Department of Mathematics & Statistics, Thesis Committee Member

Dr. Amin Majdalawieh Associate Professor, Department of Biology, Chemistry & Environmental Sciences Thesis Committee Member

Dr. Abdul Salam Jarrah Head and Program Coordinator Department of Mathematics & Statistics

Dr. Hana Suleiman Associate Dean College of Arts and Sciences

Dr. Mahmoud Anabtawi Dean College of Arts and Sciences

Dr. Mohamed El-Tarhuni Vice Provost for Research and Graduate Studies Office of Research and Graduate Studies

Aknowledgments

To Allah, almighty God, for giving me strength, patience, and knowledge. For guiding through the challenges I encountered and giving me the determination I need to carry out my studies.

I consider myself extremely fortunate to have completed my Master's degree at the American University of Sharjah. Many people have encouraged and supported me along the way, and I want to thank them for their contributions to my success.

I would also like to acknowledge my advisors, whom without their help, I would not be here today. There are no words to express how grateful I am to Dr. Marwan Abukhaled and Dr. Suheil Khoury. Their continuous support, guidance, patience, and encouragement throughout my journey of making my research. I could not have asked for greater advisors and mentors to help me along my path. I thank my committee members Dr. Issam Louhichi and Dr. Amin Majdalawieh for their assistance, guidance, and contributions of reviewing the manuscript of my thesis.

I am extremely thankful and indebted to my parents for their love, prayers, care, and sacrifices in educating and preparing me for my future, and for supporting me in completing my research project. I also want to thank my sisters Nour, Eman, Amal and Heba and my brothers for their continuous love and support. My heartfelt gratitude goes out to my friend Ghufran for her unwavering support, prayers and motivating me to complete this thesis.

Abstract

In this thesis, we investigate the numerical solution of fractional differential equations subject to initial and boundary conditions. For the solution of such equations, we use two iterative approaches. First, we apply the Laplace Decomposition Method, which is a combination of two approaches, namely the Laplace Transform and the Adomian Decomposition Methods. Then, we implement the Differential Transformation Method. Finally, we apply the above mentioned methods to real life problems such as solving complex non-linear Enzyme Inhibitor Reactions Model and a COVID-19 Model.

Keywords: Fractional derivatives, Fractional integration, Caputo fractional derivative, Liouville fractional derivative, Laplace transform, Adomian Decomposition.

Table of Contents

Abstrac	t	5
List of F	ligures	7
List of 7	ables	8
Chapter	·1 Introduction	9
1.1	Mathematical Modeling	9
1.2	Numerical Solutions of Fractional Differential Equations	10
1.3	Application of Fractional Differential Equations	11
Chapter	2 Literature Review	13
2.1	Gamma Function	13
2.2	Mittag Leffler Function	15
2.3	Laplace Transform	16
	2.3.1 Solving Differential Equations	17
Chapter	· 3 Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equations	20
3.1	The Grünwald-Letnikov Derivative Operator	21
3.2	Connection between Derivatives and Integrals	22
3.3	Riemann-Liouville Fractional Integral	25
3.4	Fractional Integrals of Exponential Functions	26
3.5	Fractional Integrals of Sine and Cosine	28
Chapter	• 4 Analytical solutions of Fractional Differential Equations	30
4.1	Laplace Adomian Decomposition Method	30
4.2	Fractional Differential Transformation Method	32
4.3	Padé Approximation	35
Chapter	• 5 Applications	37
5.1	Enzyme Inhibitor Reaction Model	37
	5.1.1 Solution Via Laplace Decomposition Method	38
5.2	Numerical Results	39
5.3	COVID-19 Model	47
Chapter	• 6 Conclusions and Future Work	55
Referen	ces	56
Vitae		64

List of Figures

Figure 5.1:	A complex Enzyme Inhibitor Reaction Model	37
Figure 5.2:	Analytical and numerical solution curves of the system (5.2) when $\alpha =$	
1		41
Figure 5.3:	Analytical solution curves of the system (5.2) when $\alpha = 1, \alpha = 0.9$	
and $\alpha = 0.8$.	The dotted and solid curves correspond to the solutions of DTM and	
the LDM res	pectively	42
Figure 5.4:	Analytical concentration curve of Enzyme E(t) for the system (5.2)	
with initial co	onditions (5.15) and parameters (5.16)	45
Figure 5.5:	Analytical concentration curve of Substrate S(t) for the system (5.2)	
with initial co	onditions (5.15) and parameters (5.16).	45
Figure 5.6:	Analytical and numerical solution curves of the system (5.2) when $\alpha =$	
1, $\alpha = 0.9$ ar	$\operatorname{nd} \alpha = 0.8. \dots$	46
Figure 5.7:	Analytical solution curves of the system (5.18) when $\alpha = 1, \alpha = 0.9$	
and $\alpha = 0.8$	where the dotted and solid curves correspond to the solutions of DTM	
and the LDM	I respectively.	49
Figure 5.8:	Divergent solution of the system (5.18) when $\alpha = 1$ obtained from	
RK4, LDM a	and DTM without using Padé approximation	50
Figure 5.9:	Convergence solution of (5.18) when $\alpha = 1$ after being coupled with	
Padé approxi	mation	51
Figure 5.10:	Analytical solution curve for the system (5.18) when $\alpha=1$ and $0\leq$	
$t \leq 15$ using	[13/12] Padé approximation.	52
Figure 5.11:	Analytical solution curves of the system (5.18) when $\alpha = 1, \alpha = 0.9$	
and $\alpha = 0.8$	where the dotted and solid curves correspond to the solutions of DTM	
and the LDM	I respectively	53

List of Tables

Table 5.1:	Maximum variation between LDM and DTM computed concentrations when α = 0.8 $\ .$	44
Table 5.2:	Maximum variation between LDM and DTM computed concentrations when α = 0.9 $$.	44
Table 5.3:	Parameters and description	47
Table 5.4:	Maximum error in DTM	52
Table 5.5:	Maximum error in LDM	53
Table 5.6:	Maximum variation between LDM and DTM when $\alpha = 0.9$	54
Table 5.7:	Maximum variation between LDM and DTM when $\alpha = 0.8$	54

Chapter 1: Introduction

In various areas of science and engineering, differential equations are used to model dynamical systems. Throughout the last two decades, many scholars have focused their attention on fractional differential equations. Most of the numerical methods used to solve ordinary differential equations have been modified to solve fractional differential equations to provide approximate solutions. Fractional Calculus is a branch of mathematics that evolved from the standard definitions of calculus derivative and integral operators just as fractional exponents emerged from integer-value exponents. It investigates the properties of derivatives and integrals of fractional order known as differintegrals. It has a history that spans more than three centuries. Despite its difficult mathematical basis, Fractional Calculus originated from some basic derivation-related questions, such as: what does the half order derivative represent if the first-order derivative represents geometrically the slope of a tangent line? [1] The origins of this question may be traced back to Leibniz's initial suggestion of fractional derivatives in 1695 [2]. Those types of questions have widened the broads for understanding the connection between mathematical modeling and real life problems. Fractional Calculus is used in a broad range of engineering and science domains, including optics, viscoelasticity, fluid mechanics, electromagnetics, signal processing, and biological population models [3]. It is also used as a tool for modeling a variety of complex systems.

The aim of the thesis is three folded. Firstly, we will talk about mathematical modeling. Everything in mathematical biology, mathematical chemistry, physics, and engineering starts with a model. In specific, Fractional Calculus has been used as a tool for modeling a variety of complex systems. Secondly, we will discuss different numerical solutions of fractional derivatives. We will analyze two specific methods. The Laplace Adomian Decomposition method and the Fractional Differential Transformation Method. Lastly, we will highlight some applications of Fractional Derivatives. We will implement the methods discussed onto an Enzyme Inhibitor Reaction Model and a COVID-19 model.

1.1 Mathematical Modeling

Mathematical modeling is the discipline in Mathematics that allows translating and interpreting problems from an application perspective into flexible mathematical formulations which can be analyzed to offer better insight and useful guidance for the originating application. Models express our perceptions about how the world works. By applying mathematical modeling, we transfer these views into the mathematical language to help in formulating concepts and understanding underlying assumptions. Mathematical modeling may be utilized for a variety of purposes. The degree to which a certain goal is met is determined by both the state of information about a system and the quality of the modeling. Scientists use mathematical modeling to enhance their understanding and test the effect of system adjustments to help in their decision making [4]. Mathematical modeling is essential in various applications. It provides precision and allows a thorough understanding of the model. Furthermore, it organizes the model so we can have better control of the system [5].

Mathematical models are classified into various types. For example, a continuous model means the dependent variable is defined over a continuous space time, a stochastic model means some elements are probabilistic, a deterministic model means it is based on cause-effect analysis, while lumped model means the dependent variables are not a function of spatial position. The creation of models such as ours began in the late 19th century. The first book explaining mathematical models was by Brill and Kline from the Royal Technical University in Munich in 1904. In the last century, mathematical modeling has been intensively utilized in natural sciences, engineering, medicine, social sciences, business, military operations, music, and philosophy [6]-[19]. In this thesis, we discuss fractional differential equations which are the new trend in modeling physical phenomena because of the non-locality of the fractional derivatives. This allows us to measure the hereditary properties of the system. Fractional derivatives have been intensively used for modeling the physical properties of various systems. The main advantage of the applications of fractional calculus is that the mathematical models based on fractional-order are usually more accurate than the ones based on integer orders. Furthermore, there are several cases in which integer-order mathematical models, including nonlinear models, fail to perform effectively [20, 21, 22]. Numerous effective analytical and numerical approaches have been established and presented, but further inquiry and research are still required [23]. Understanding the mathematical modeling of different systems is a crucial step in transitioning from a theoretical perspective to mathematical applications.

1.2 Numerical Solutions of Fractional Differential Equations

When analytical approaches fail, numerical methods can be used to get approximate answers. Although they will never be as generic as analytical solutions, they can be just as effective in certain situations. The processes represented in the model are typically replicated via numerical solution of model equations [4]. The numerical solution of difference equations is precise because we can follow the evolution of the system using the principles provided out in the equations. Since mathematical models are usually nonlinear, exact solutions are difficult to acquire. In addition, those kinds of systems do not have exact solutions because they do not have bounded variations. Although numerical methods are widely utilized, they have some disadvantages. In fact, numerical stability is not guaranteed and matching the data to the numerical solution is costly in terms of time. As a result, numerical approaches are used to reach approximate solutions. For instance, Abukhaled solved a nonlinear singular two-point boundary value problem by employing the Variational Iterative Method [24]. Later, his work was modified by Khuri and Wazwaz to solve boundary value problems that arise in electric conducting solids, elliptic BVPs, and Volterra integro-differential equations of Lane-Emden and the Emden-Fowler problems [25, 26, 27, 28]. Kafri and Khuri solved the nonlinear one-dimensional Bratu's problem by coupling Green's Function and fixed-point iterative methods (GFIM) [29]. Abukhaled et al. employed the GFIM to construct a semi-analytical solution of amperometric enzymatic reactions, the one-dimensional curvature equation, strong nonlinear oscillators, and a class of boundary value problems that occur in heat transfer [30, 31, 32, 33]. Last but not least, Khuri et al. successfully solved Toresh's problem, Bratu-like equations originating in electrospinning process equations, and boundary value problems using GFIM [35, 36, 34]. Analytically, solving fractional differential equations can be done in a variety of ways. The efficiency of numerical approaches is traditionally assessed using concepts like convergence, consistency, and stability. The method's consistency order is frequently used as a benchmark for comparing approaches. The order of the method informs the user of the rate at which the error over a fixed interval would decrease when the step length is reduced [37]. In this thesis, we are implementing the Laplace Adomian Decomposition Method and the Differential Transformation Method on different mathematical models.

1.3 Application of Fractional Differential Equations

Fractional Calculus has applications in practically every discipline of scientific and social sciences, economics, finance, health sciences, and engineering [38, 39, 40]. It is been used to simulate physical and technical processes that are best characterized by fractional differential equations. These types of models are utilized for systems that need precise damping

modeling. Various analytical and numerical approaches, as well as their applicability to novel problems, have been suggested in recent years. It is believed that the first application of Fractional Calculus was presented by Abel in 1823 with his tautochrone problem. The problem entails establishing a curve shape such that the time taken for an object to slide down the curve under uniform gravity and without friction is independent of the starting position on the curve [41, 42]. The use of the memory effect of fractional derivatives in building simple mathematical models occurs at a significant cost in terms of numerical solvability. Any method of a non-integer derivative must, among other things, care for its non-local structure, which entails a large amount of storage and high total algorithm complexity [43]. Therefore, Fractional Calculus has shown to be a useful tool for describing novel and recent applications in control theory, viscoelasticity, and generalized voltage dividers in the past few decades [44]. To tackle Fractional Initial Value Problems, Abdulaziz et al. [45] adopted the Homotopy Perturbation Method. It is also been modified to solve a variety of fractional differential equations, both linear and nonlinear [46]. Sakar et al. [47] proposed a Legendre reproducing kernel method to solve fractional Bratu-type equations and obtained an extremely accurate approximation. Quasi-Method Newton's [48], and Bezier Curve Method [49] are some of the other approaches for solving fractional differential equations. The harmonic oscillator is also a basic model in classical mechanics that may be used to a wide range of physical, chemical, and engineering applications. Generalizing to fractional derivatives, that entails replacing the second derivative in a classical oscillator equation with a fractional-order derivative, is still under investigation, and the properties of the fractional oscillator for various types of differintegrals are currently being studied by different scholars [1]. There are a variety of other approximate analytical solutions like the Adomian decomposition for solving nonlinear fractional differential equations [50], or by using Differential Transformation Method [51] which we will discuss in detail later on. In this thesis, we will implement the later methods into solving an Enzyme Inhibitor Reaction Model and a COVID-19 model.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 Gamma Function

In the early 16th century, the Gamma function was first introduced by the Swiss mathematician Leonhard Euler. It is essentially a generalization of the factorial to all non integer values. Due to its significant, it is used in various areas like number theory, definite integration, asymptotic series, and the Riemann zeta function.

The Gamma function is defined as follows

$$\Gamma(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-t} t^{x-1} dt, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^+.$$
(2.1)

The improper integral (2.1) converges for x > 0.

Proof. we start by dividing the integral as a sum of two terms

$$\Gamma(x) = \int_0^1 t^{x-1} e^{-t} dt + \int_1^\infty t^{x-1} e^{-t} dt$$

For the first term, since the function e^{-t} is decreasing, it attains its maximum on the interval [0, 1] at t = 0, so

$$\Gamma(x) = \int_{0}^{1} t^{x-1} e^{-t} dt < \int_{0}^{1} t^{x-1} dt$$

= $\frac{t^{x}}{x} \Big|_{0}^{1}$
= $\frac{1}{x}$ (2.2)

Since x > 0, by Direct Comparison Test we conclude that $\int_0^1 t^{x-1} e^{-t} dt$ converges. As for the second term, the exponential grows faster than any polynomial, for every x so we can find $N \in \mathbb{N}$, big enough so that $e^{\frac{t}{2}} \ge t^{x-1}$, for $t \in [N, +\infty)$. Thus

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} t^{x-1} e^{-t} dt = \int_{1}^{N} t^{x-1} e^{-t} dt + \int_{N}^{\infty} t^{x-1} e^{-t} dt$$
$$\leq \int_{1}^{N} t^{x-1} e^{-t} dt + \int_{N}^{\infty} e^{\frac{t}{2}} e^{-t} dt$$
$$= \int_{1}^{N} t^{x-1} e^{-t} dt + \int_{N}^{\infty} e^{\frac{-t}{2}} dt$$

The first term $\int_{1}^{N} t^{x-1}e^{-t}dt$ is finite real number because the function $t^{x-1}e^{t}$ is continuous on [1, N], $\int_{N}^{\infty} e^{\frac{-t}{2}}dt = -\frac{1}{2}e^{\frac{-t}{2}}\Big|_{N}^{\infty} = \frac{1}{2}e^{\frac{-N}{2}}$ is convergent. Hence, $\int_{1}^{\infty} t^{x-1}e^{-t}dt < \infty$

The Gamma functions holds some fundamental properties. From (2.1) we can conclude that

$$\Gamma(n) = \int_0^\infty x^{n-1} e^{-x} dx = (n-1)!, \text{ for } n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and}$$

$$\Gamma(n+1) = \int_0^\infty x^n e^{-x} dx = n!.$$
(2.3)

Also, the Gamma function satisfies the recursive property

$$\Gamma(n+1) = n \ \Gamma(n). \tag{2.4}$$

Proof. Using (2.3) we have [52]:

$$\Gamma(n+1) = \int_0^\infty x^n e^{-x} dx = n!.$$
 (2.5)

Now, let $u = x^n$, $dv = e^{-x}dx$, $du = nx^{n-1}dx$ and $v = -e^{-x}$ we get

$$\Gamma(n+1) = -x^{n}e^{-x}\Big|_{0}^{\infty} - \int_{0}^{\infty} x^{n-1}n\left(-e^{-x}\right)dx,$$

= $n\int_{0}^{\infty} x^{n-1}e^{-x}dx = n\Gamma(n).$ (2.6)

Thus,

$$\Gamma(n+1) = n\Gamma(n). \tag{2.7}$$

We know that $\Gamma(n + 1) = n!$ where *n* is a non-negative integer. We will introduce some remarkable values of the Gamma function that are important in probability and engineering. One of the most useful values $\Gamma(1) = 1$

Proof. Using the definition (2.1)

$$\Gamma(1) = \int_{0}^{\infty} x^{1-1} e^{-x} dx,
\Gamma(1) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-x} dx,
\Gamma(1) = -\frac{1}{e^{-x}} \Big|_{0}^{\infty},
\Gamma(1) = -\frac{1}{e^{-\infty}} - (-e)^{-0} = 0 - (-1) = 1.$$
(2.8)

Another special value of Gamma function that is frequently used is

$$\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = \sqrt{\pi}.\tag{2.9}$$

Proof. [53]

$$\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = \int_0^\infty t^{\frac{1}{2}-1} e^{-x} dx,$$

$$\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} e^{-x} dx.$$
(2.10)

We let $x = y^2$, dx = 2ydy and we obtain

$$\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{y} e^{-y^2} 2y dy = 2 \int_0^\infty e^{-y^2} dy,$$
(2.11)

Simplifying, we obtain

$$\left[\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)\right]^2 = 4\int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty e^{-(x^2+y^2)}dxdy$$
(2.12)

Using polar coordinates, with $r^2 = x^2 + y^2$, (2.12) becomes

$$\left[\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)\right]^{2} = 4\int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}}\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-r^{2}}rdrd\theta = 4\left[\theta\right]_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}}\left[\frac{e^{-r^{2}}}{-2}\right]_{0}^{\infty} = 4\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = \pi.$$
 (2.13)

As for the negative numbers z, $\Gamma(z)$ is not defined. Therefore, we need to use the recursion relation to define it as follow:

$$\Gamma(z) = \frac{1}{z}\Gamma(z+1) \text{ for } z < 0.$$
 (2.14)

Example 2.1.

$$\Gamma(-0.2) = \frac{1}{-0.2} \Gamma(0.8),$$

$$\Gamma(-1.2) = \frac{1}{(-0.2)(-1.2)} \Gamma(0.8).$$
(2.15)

2.2 Mittag Leffler Function

The Mittag-Leffler function was introduced to address a classical complex analysis problem, specifically, how to represent the technique of analytic continuation of power series outside of their convergence disk. Its significance was rediscovered when the connection between the Mittag-Leffler function and Fractional Calculus was completely established. It is considered a generalization of the exponential function e^x . It also has a significant role in solving fractional differential equations and fractional integral equations of integer order known as differintegrals. Its significance lies in its direct involvement in physics, chemistry, biology, and engineering [54]. The Mittag-Leffler function of one parameter and two parameter equation are the most common and extensively applicable functions. The generalization of the Mittag-Leffler function of one parameter is defined as follows:

$$E_{\alpha}(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^n}{\Gamma(n\alpha + 1)}, \quad where \quad \alpha, z \in \mathbb{C} \text{ with } Re(\alpha) > 0$$

The Mittag-Leffler function of two parameters $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{C}$ with $Re(\alpha) > 0$ is defined by

$$E_{\alpha,\beta}(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^n}{\Gamma(n\alpha + \beta)}.$$

We obtain some well known functions by choosing specific values for α and β [54]. Example 2.2.

$$E_{1,1}(z) = e^{z},$$

$$E_{1,2}(z) = \frac{e^{z} - 1}{z},$$

$$E_{2,1}(z^{2}) = \cosh(z),$$

$$E_{2,2}(z^{2}) = \frac{\sinh(z)}{z}.$$
(2.16)

2.3 Laplace Transform

Laplace Transform is an integral transform commonly used in physics and engineering. It was developed by Abel, Heaviside, Lerch, and Bromwich in the 19th century [55]. It is named after the mathematician and astronomer Pierre-Simon Laplace. Although Laplace Transform was known since the 19th century, the current use of it came about after World War II.

Laplace Transform can be seen as an operator acting on functions. We shall see later that when we apply Laplace Transform to differential equations, the later become algebraic equations, and hence easier to handle.

Definition 2.3.1. For a function f defined on $[0, +\infty]$ and for $s \in \mathbb{C}$, we define the Laplace Transform of f at s b:

$$F(s) = \mathcal{L}\lbrace f(t)\rbrace = \int_0^\infty e^{-st} f(t)dt.$$
(2.17)

For this integral to exist, we must have $e^{-\alpha t}|f(t)| \leq M$ for all $t \geq T$, where α , M and T are positive constants.

Example 2.3. If f(t) = 1 for $t \ge 0$, for all s > 0, we have

$$\mathcal{L}{f(t)} = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-st} dt$$

= $\lim_{\tau \to \infty} \left(\frac{e^{-st}}{-s} \Big|_{0}^{\tau} \right)$
= $\lim_{\tau \to \infty} \left(\frac{e^{-s\tau}}{-s} + \frac{1}{s} \right)$
= $\frac{1}{s}.$ (2.18)

Therefore, $\mathcal{L}\{1\} = \frac{1}{s}$ for s > 0

The inverse Laplace transform is the transformation into a function of time. If f(t) is the inverse Laplace Transform of F(s), then $\mathcal{L}{f(t)} = F(s)$ and inverse can be written as $f(t) = \mathcal{L}^{-1}{F(s)}$

Example 2.4. Let $f(t) = e^{at}$ for some $a \in \mathbb{R}$. Then

$$\mathcal{L}\left\{e^{at}\right\} = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-st} e^{at} dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-(s-a)t} dt$$

$$= -\frac{1}{s-a} e^{-(s-a)t} \Big|_{0}^{\infty}, \text{ when } s > a.$$

$$= \frac{1}{s-a}.$$
(2.19)

Example 2.5. Let f(t) = sint. Using Euler's formula $e^{it} = \cos t + i \sin t$, we write

$$\sin t = \frac{e^{\mathrm{i}t} - e^{-\mathrm{i}t}}{2\mathrm{i}}.$$

Then

$$\mathcal{L}\{\sin t\} = \frac{1}{2i} \int_0^\infty \left(e^{it} - e^{-it}\right) e^{-st} dt$$

= $\frac{1}{2i} \left(\frac{1}{s-i} - \frac{1}{s+i}\right)$
= $\frac{1}{s^2 + 1}.$ (2.20)

2.3.1 Solving Differential Equations Laplace Transformation is a powerful tool for solving ordinary linear differential equations algebraically.

Theorem 2.3.1. Suppose f is of integer order, and that f is continuous and f' is piecewise continuous on any interval $0 \le t \le A$. The Laplace Transform of integer order derivatives

$$\mathcal{L}\left\{f'(t)\right\} = s\mathcal{L}\left\{f(t)\right\} - f(0).$$

Generalizing the theorem for any integer order derivative by applying the theorem multiple times we get:

$$\mathcal{L}\left\{f^{(n)}(t)\right\} = s^{n} \mathcal{L}\left\{f(t)\right\} - s^{n-1} f(0) - s^{n-2} f'(0), - \dots - s^{2} f^{(n-3)}(0) - s f^{(n-2)}(0) - f^{(n-1)}(0).$$
(2.21)

Example 2.6. We shall solve the following IVP y'(t) = 5 - 2t, y(0) = 1 using Laplace Transform. We start by applying Laplace Transform to both sides of the DE and we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}\{y'(t)\} = \mathcal{L}\{5 - 2t\}$$
$$= \frac{5}{s} - \frac{2}{s^2}.$$

Using Theorem 2.3.1, we have

$$s\mathcal{L}\{y(t)\} - y(0) = \frac{5}{s} - \frac{2}{s^{2}}$$

Since y(0) = 1, we divide both sides by s and we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}(y(t)) = \frac{1}{s} + \frac{5}{s^2} - \frac{2}{s^3}.$$

Finally, we apply the inverse Laplace Transform to conclude that

$$y(t) = \mathcal{L}^{-1}\left\{\frac{1}{s}\right\} + \mathcal{L}^{-1}\left\{\frac{5}{s^2}\right\} - \mathcal{L}^{-1}\left\{\frac{2}{s^3}\right\}$$
$$= 1 + 5t - t^2.$$

Example 2.7. Solve the initial value problem $y' + 2y = 4te^{-2t}$, y(0) = -3 using Laplace Transformation method [53]. We start by applying Laplace Transform to both sides of the *DE* and we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}\left\{y'\right\} + \mathcal{L}\left\{2y\right\} = \mathcal{L}\left\{4te^{-2t}\right\}.$$
(2.22)

Using Theorem 2.3.1, we have

$$s\mathcal{L}\{y\} - y(0) + 2\mathcal{L}\{y\} = \frac{4}{(s+2)^2}.$$
 (2.23)

Simplifying

$$(s\mathcal{L}\{y\} - (-3)) + 2\mathcal{L}\{y\} = \frac{4}{(s+2)^2},$$

$$\mathcal{L}\{y\}(s+2) + 3 = \frac{4}{(s+2)^2},$$

$$\mathcal{L}\{y\}(s+2) = \frac{4}{(s+2)^2} - 3.\text{Hence}$$

$$\mathcal{L}\{y\} = \frac{4}{(s+2)^3} - \frac{3}{(s+2)} = \frac{4 - 3(s+2)^2}{(s+2)^3} = \frac{-3s^2 - 12s - 8}{(s+2)^3}.$$

$$(2.24)$$

Using partial fractions decomposition

$$\mathcal{L}\{y\} = \frac{-3s^2 - 12s - 8}{(s+2)^3} = \frac{a}{(s+2)^3} + \frac{b}{(s+2)^2} + \frac{c}{(s+2)}$$
$$= \frac{-3s^2 - 12s - 8}{(s+2)^3} = \frac{a}{(s+2)^3} + \frac{b(s+2)}{(s+2)^2} + \frac{c(s+2)^2}{(s+2)}$$
$$= \frac{-3s^2 - 12s - 8}{(s+2)^3} = \frac{a + bs + 2b + cs^2 + 4cs + 4c}{(s+2)^3}$$
$$= \frac{-3s^2 - 12s - 8}{(s+2)^3} = \frac{cs^2 + (b + 4c)s + (a + 2b + 4c)}{(s+2)^3}.$$
(2.25)

Equating the numerators, we obtain

$$c = -3, a = 4, b = 0.$$

Substituting the values back in $\mathcal{L}\{y\}$, we have

$$\mathcal{L}\{y\} = \frac{-3s^2 - 12s - 8}{(s+2)^3} = \frac{4}{(s+2)^3} - \frac{3}{(s+2)}.$$
(2.26)

Using inverse Laplace, we deduce that

$$y(t) = 4\mathcal{L}^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{(s+2)^3}\right) - 3\mathcal{L}^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{(s+2)}\right)$$

= $2t^2e^{-2t} - 3e^{-2t}.$ (2.27)

Chapter 3: Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equations

Fractional Calculus is the theory of having integrals and derivatives of arbitrary order, which generalizes the concepts of integer-order differentiation and integration. The history of Fractional Calculus dates back to 1695. It first appeared in a letter L'Hôpital wrote to Leibniz asking about the nth derivative of the function

$$\frac{D^n f(x)}{Dx^n} \tag{3.1}$$

and what would the result be if $n = \frac{1}{2}$. Leibniz responded that it would be "an apparent paradox, from which one day useful consequences will be drawn" [56]. Later, Lacroix mentioned fractional derivative in a paper published in 1819. He found the nth derivative for $y = x^m$ when m is a positive integer [56]. His formula is given by

$$\frac{d^n y}{dx^n} = \frac{m!}{(m-n)!} x^{m-n}, \ m \ge n$$

The idea behind this lies in generalizing the power rule. In fact, we have that

$$\frac{d}{dx}(x^{n}) = nx^{n-1},$$

$$\frac{d^{2}}{dx^{2}}(x^{n}) = n(n-1)x^{n-2},$$

$$\frac{d^{3}}{dx^{3}}(x^{n}) = n(n-1)(n-2)x^{n-3}.$$
(3.2)

By identifying the pattern, $\frac{d^3}{dx^3}(x^n)$ can be written as

$$\frac{d^3}{dx^3}\left(x^n\right) = \frac{n(n-1)(n-2)(n-3)(n-4)\dots 3\cdot 2\cdot 1}{(n-3)(n-4)\dots 3\cdot 2\cdot 1}x^{n-3}.$$
(3.3)

Using the factorial notation, we obtain that

$$\frac{d^n y}{dx^n}(x^m) = \frac{m!}{(m-n)!} x^{m-n}, \ m \ge n$$

Then, Lacroix generalized the factorial using the Gamma function to extend the factorial to any real number. As a result, we can write the derivative in terms of the Gamma function

$$\frac{d^{n}y}{dx^{n}}(x^{m}) = \frac{\Gamma(m+1)}{\Gamma(m-n+1)}x^{m-n}.$$
(3.4)

Moreover, Lacroix gave an example where y = x and $n = \frac{1}{2}$ [56], and he obtained

$$\frac{d^{\frac{1}{2}}y}{dx^{\frac{1}{2}}} = \frac{2\sqrt{x}}{\sqrt{\pi}}.$$
(3.5)

Nevertheless, the first mathematician who used the applications of Fractional Calculus was Abel, not Lacroix. Abel used fractional operations for the first time in 1823 when he applied Fractional Calculus to solve an integral equation that appeared in the formulation of the tautochrone problem.

Example 3.1. Let us find the half derivative of $f(x) = x^5$. Using (3.4) we have

$$\frac{d^{\frac{1}{2}}}{dx^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left(x^{5}\right) = \frac{\Gamma(5+1)}{\Gamma\left(5+1-\frac{1}{2}\right)} x^{5-\frac{1}{2}}
= \frac{\Gamma(6)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{11}{2}\right)} x^{\frac{9}{2}} = \frac{5!}{\frac{945\sqrt{\pi}}{32}} x^{\frac{9}{2}}.$$
(3.6)

Example 3.2. To find the half derivative of a constant f(x) = 1, we observe that $x^0 = 1$ for $x \neq 0$. Then (3.4) implies

$$\frac{d^{\frac{1}{2}}}{dx^{\frac{1}{2}}}(1) = \frac{d^{\frac{1}{2}}(x^{0})}{dx^{\frac{1}{2}}}
= \frac{\Gamma(0+1)}{\Gamma(0+1-\frac{1}{2})}x^{0-\frac{1}{2}}
= \frac{\Gamma(1)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}x^{-\frac{1}{2}}
= \frac{\Gamma(1)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}\frac{1}{\sqrt{x}}.$$
(3.7)

3.1 The Grünwald-Letnikov Derivative Operator

We will derive the Grünwald-Letnikov Fractional Derivative . The proof is based on the backwards difference definition given by

$$\frac{d}{dx}f(x) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{f(x) - f(x-h)}{h}.$$
(3.8)

Using the definition (3.8), the second derivative is

$$\frac{d^{2}}{dx^{2}}f(x) = \frac{d}{dx}f'(x)
= \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{f'(x) - f'(x-h)}{h}
= \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{\frac{f(x) - f(x-h)}{h} - \frac{f(x-h) - f(x-2h)}{h}}{h}.$$
(3.9)

Thus,

$$\frac{d^2}{dx^2}f(x) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h^2} [f(x) - 2f(x-h) + f(x-2h)].$$
(3.10)

Similarly, the limit definition of the third derivative using the backwards difference is given by

$$\frac{d^3}{dx^3}f(x) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h^3} [f(x) - 3f(x-h) + 3f(x-2h) - f(x-3h)].$$
(3.11)

Hence, we deduce the general case of the limit definition of the nth derivative using the backwards difference as

$$\frac{d^k}{dx^k}f(x) = \lim_{h \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{h}\right)^k \sum_{l=0}^k (-1)^l \left(\begin{array}{c}k\\l\end{array}\right) f(x-lh), \text{ where } k \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } \left(\begin{array}{c}k\\l\end{array}\right) = \frac{k!}{l!(k-l)!}$$
(3.12)

In order to extend the natural numbers in (3.12) to all real numbers $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, we use the fact that $\Gamma(n+1) = n!$ and we obtain

$$\frac{d^k}{dx^k}f(x) = \lim_{n \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{h}\right)^k \sum_{l=0}^k (-1)^l \frac{\Gamma(k+1)}{l!\Gamma(k+1-l)} f(x-lh).$$
(3.13)

Mapping k to α , where $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, we get

$$\frac{d^{\alpha}}{dx^{\alpha}}f(x) = \lim_{h \to 0} \left(\frac{1}{h}\right)^{\alpha} \sum_{l=0}^{k} (-1)^{l} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{l!\Gamma(\alpha+1-l)} f\left(x-lh\right),$$
(3.14)

At this stage, we introduce the change of variables kh = x - a where a is a constant. Then, $k = \frac{x-a}{h}$ and $\frac{1}{h} = \frac{k}{x-a}$. Thus, our equation becomes

$$\frac{d^{\alpha}}{dx^{\alpha}}f(x) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \left(\frac{k}{x-a}\right) \sum_{l=0}^{k} (-1)^l \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha+1-l)l!} f\left(x - \frac{l}{k}(x-a)\right).$$
(3.15)

Finally, the Grünwald-Letnikov Differential Operator is given by

$${}_{a}D_{x}^{\alpha}f(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\frac{n}{x-a}\right)^{\alpha} \sum_{l=0}^{n} (-1)^{l} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{l!\Gamma(\alpha+1-l)} f\left(x-\frac{l}{n}(x-a)\right).$$
(3.16)

Similarly, we define the Grünwald-Letnikov Differential Operator for negative base points by

$${}_{a}D_{x}^{-\alpha}(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(h^{\alpha}\right) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(a+l)}{l!\Gamma(\alpha)} \cdot f\left(x - \frac{l}{n}(x-a)\right), \text{ where } \alpha \ge 0$$
(3.17)

3.2 Connection between Derivatives and Integrals

In this section, we derive the integral operator of fractional order and investigates its connection to the fractional derivative operator. Take $\alpha = 1$. Then

$${}_{a}D_{x}^{-1}(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (h^{1}) \sum_{l=0}^{n} \frac{\Gamma(1+l)}{l!\Gamma(1)} f(x-lh)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{l=0}^{n} f(x-lh)h.$$
 (3.18)

We notice that the right hand side is a Riemann sum, and the equation becomes

$${}_{a}D_{x}^{-1}(f) = \int_{0}^{x-a} f(x-t)dt.$$
(3.19)

Applying the substitution u = x - t, we obtain

$$_{a}D_{x}^{-1}(f) = -\int_{x}^{a} f(u)(-du) = \int_{a}^{x} f(t)dt.$$
 (3.20)

Now, consider $\alpha = 2$ in the equation (3.17). Then,

$${}_{a}D_{a}^{-2}(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (h^{2}) \sum_{l=0}^{n} \frac{\Gamma(l+2)}{l!\Gamma(2)} f(x-lh)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} (h^{2}) \sum_{l=0}^{n} (l+1) f(x-lh)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{l=1}^{n+1} (lh) f(x-lh)h.$$
 (3.21)

We notice that the right hand side is half of the Riemann sum, and the equation becomes

$$_{a}D_{x}^{-2}(f) = \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)f(t).$$
 (3.22)

Similarly, for $\alpha = 3$

$$_{a}D_{x}^{-3} = \frac{1}{2!}\int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{2}f(t)dt.$$
 (3.23)

When $\alpha = 4$, we get

$${}_{a}D_{x}^{-4} = \frac{1}{3!} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{3} f(t) dt.$$
(3.24)

Generally, we have

$${}_{a}D_{x}^{-(k+1)}(f) = \frac{1}{k!} \cdot \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{k} f(t) dt.$$
(3.25)

Lastly, in order to extend the connection between derivatives and integrals to the fractional order, we use the Gamma function to obtain the fractional integral operator which is referred to as Riemann-Liouville fractional integral.

Definition 3.2.1. Let f be a continuous function, $0 < \alpha \le 1$, and $t, x \in \mathbb{R}^+$. The fractional integral of order α is defined as

$${}_{a}D_{x}^{-\alpha}(f) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} f(t) dt.$$
(3.26)

Definition 3.2.2. Let $f \in C^n[a, b], \alpha \ge 0$, and $n - 1 < a \le n$. The Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative is given by

$$D_{L}^{\alpha}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}} \int_{a}^{t} \frac{f(x)}{(t-x)^{\alpha+n-1}} dx, \quad a < t < b.$$
(3.27)

Example 3.3. Let f(x) = x. Then,

$$D_L^{\alpha}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \frac{d^n}{dt^n} \int_0^t (t-x)^{n-\alpha-1} f(x) dx$$

For n = 1 and $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$, we get

$$D_L^{\frac{1}{2}}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\right)} \frac{d}{dt} \int_0^t (t - x)^{1 - \frac{1}{2} - 1} x dx,$$

By substitution, we obtain

$$D_L^{\frac{1}{2}}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)} \frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{4t^{\frac{3}{2}}}{3}\right)$$

$$= \frac{2\sqrt{t}}{\sqrt{\pi}}.$$
 (3.28)

Another integral operator that is an alternative to the Riemann-Liouville operator was introduced in 1967, by an Italian Mathematician Caputo, who adjusted the definition of the Riemann–Liouville operator.

Definition 3.2.3. Let $f \in C^n[a, b]$, $\alpha \ge 0$, and $n - 1 < a \le n$. The Caputo Fractional Derivative is given by

$$D^{\alpha}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{a}^{t} (t-x)^{n-\alpha-1} \frac{d^{n}f(x)}{dx^{n}} dx,$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{a}^{t} \frac{f^{(n)}(x)}{(t-x)^{\alpha+1-n}} dx, \quad a \le t < b.$$
(3.29)

Example 3.4. Let $f(x) = x^3$. Using Definition (3.2.3), the half derivative of f is

$$D^{\frac{1}{2}}f(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(3-\frac{1}{2}\right)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-x)^{3-\frac{1}{2}-1} \frac{d^{3}f(x)}{dx^{3}} dx$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{5}{2}\right)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-x)^{\frac{3}{2}} 6dx$$

$$= \frac{6}{\Gamma\left(\frac{5}{2}\right)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-x)^{\frac{3}{2}} dx$$

$$= \frac{12}{5\Gamma\left(2+\frac{1}{2}\right)} \left[(t-x)^{\frac{3}{2}+1} \right]_{0}^{t}$$

$$= \frac{12}{5\frac{3}{4}\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)} (-t)^{\frac{5}{2}} = \frac{8}{15\sqrt{\pi}}.$$

(3.30)

3.3 Riemann-Liouville Fractional Integral

Definition 3.3.1. Let f be a continuous function, $0 < \alpha \le 1$, and $t, x \in \mathbb{R}^+$. The fractional integral of order α is defined as

$${}_{a}D_{x}^{-\alpha}(f) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} f(t) dt.$$
(3.31)

There are some alternate forms of the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative.

$${}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}(f(x)) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(x)} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} f(t)dt, \text{ when } x > a,$$
(3.32)

$${}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}(f(x)) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{x}^{a} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} f(t) dt, \text{ when } x < a.$$
(3.33)

Example 3.5. Let $f(x) = x^3$. Using Definition (3.3.1), we have

$${}_{a}I_{x}^{1/2}\left(x^{3}\right) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})} \int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{-\frac{1}{2}} t^{3} dt.$$
(3.34)

Taking x = 1, we obtain

$${}_{a}I_{1}^{1/2}\left(x^{3}\right) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}\int_{0}^{1}(1-t)^{\frac{-1}{2}}t^{3}dt.$$
(3.35)

Using the Beta function definition

$$B(\alpha, \beta) = \int_0^1 t^{\alpha - 1} (1 - t)^{\beta - 1} dt,$$

we deduce that

$${}_{a}I_{1}^{1/2}\left(x^{3}\right) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})} \int_{0}^{1} t^{4-1} (1-t)^{\frac{1}{2}-1} dt$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})} B(4, \frac{1}{2})$$
(3.36)

Since $B(4, \frac{1}{2}) = \frac{\Gamma(4)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(4 + \frac{1}{2})}$, we conclude that

$${}_{a}I_{1}^{1/2}(x^{3}) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})} \frac{\Gamma(4)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(4+\frac{1}{2})}$$

$$= \frac{3!}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}$$

$$= \frac{32}{35\sqrt{\pi}}.$$
 (3.37)

The Riemann-Liouville fractional integral holds some essential properties.

Properties

- 1. Identity operator: ${}_{a}I_{x}I^{0}f(x) = f(x)$.
- 2. Constant multiple: $_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}(cf(x)) = c \cdot_{a} I_{x}^{\alpha}(f(x)).$
- 3. Linear operator: ${}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}(f(x) \pm g(x)) =_{a} I_{x}^{\alpha}(f(x)) \pm_{a} I_{x}^{\alpha}(g(x)).$
- 4. Composition: ${}_{a}I^{\alpha}_{x}({}_{a}I^{\beta}_{x}(f(x))) = {}_{a}I^{\alpha+\beta}_{x}(f(x)).$

Proof. (of property "4"). We choose to prove (4) since the other properties are straightforward consequences of the definition.

$${}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}({}_{a}I_{x}^{\beta}(f(x))) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} \left[{}_{a}I_{t}^{\beta}(f(t)) \right] dt,$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} \left[\frac{1}{\Gamma(\beta)} \int_{a}^{t} (t-\xi)^{\beta-1} f(\xi) d\xi \right] dt,$$
(3.38)

Rearranging the integral:

$${}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}({}_{a}I_{x}^{\beta}(f(x))) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)} \int_{0}^{x} \int_{a}^{t} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} (t-\xi)^{\beta-1} f(\xi) d\xi dt$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)} \int_{a}^{x} \int_{0}^{1} (x-\xi)^{\alpha+\beta-1} (1-u)^{\alpha-1} u^{\beta-1} f(\xi) du d\xi$$
(3.39)

Using Fubini's theorem, we obtain

$${}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}({}_{a}I_{x}^{\beta}(f(x))) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)} \left(\int_{0}^{1} (1-u)^{\alpha-1} u^{\beta-1} du \right) \left(\int_{a}^{x} (x-\xi)^{\alpha-\beta-1} f(\xi) d\xi \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)} B(\alpha,\beta) \int_{a}^{x} (x-\xi)^{\alpha+\beta-1} f(\xi) d\xi.$$
(3.40)

Since $B(\alpha, \beta) = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)}{\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)}$, we conclude that

$${}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}({}_{a}I_{x}^{\beta}(f(x))) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha,\beta)} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha+\beta+1} f(t)dt$$
$$= {}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha+\beta}(f(x)).$$
(3.41)

3.4 Fractional Integrals of Exponential Functions

Consider $f(x) = e^x$. Then

$${}_{a}I_{0}^{\alpha}\left(e^{x}\right) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(x)} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} e^{t} dt.$$
(3.42)

Let u = x - t. Then du = -dt. When $t = a = -\infty$, $u = x - a = \infty$ and when t = x, u = 0. Thus

$$aI_0^{\alpha}(e^x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(a)} \int_{\infty}^0 u^{\alpha-1} e^{x-u} (-du)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^{\infty} u^{\alpha-1} e^x e^{-u} du$$

$$= e^x \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^{\infty} u^{\alpha-1} e^{-u} du.$$
 (3.43)

Since $\int_0^\infty u^{\alpha-1} e^{-u} du = \Gamma(\alpha)$, we get

$${}_{a}I_{0}^{\alpha}\left(e^{x}\right) = e^{x}.$$
(3.44)

We also notice that

$$D^{\alpha}\left(e^{x}\right) = e^{x}, \ \forall \ \alpha > 0.$$

Now, we can generalize the definition of the integral of e^x as follows

$${}_{a}I_{0}^{\alpha}\left(e^{ax}\right) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} e^{at} dt.$$
(3.45)

Similarly, as in the previous examples, we obtain

$${}_{a}I_{0}^{\alpha}\left(e^{ax}\right) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{\infty} u^{\alpha-1}e^{a(x-u)}du$$
$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{\infty} u^{\alpha-1}e^{ax}e^{-au}du$$
$$= e^{ax}\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{\infty} u^{2-1}e^{-au}du.$$
(3.46)

Using substitution, w = au, we obtain that

$${}_{a}I_{0}^{\alpha}\left(e^{ax}\right) = e^{ax}\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\int_{0}^{\infty}\left(\frac{w}{a}\right)^{\alpha-1}e^{-w}\frac{1}{a}dw$$
$$= e^{ax}\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)}\int_{0}^{\infty}\frac{w^{\alpha-1}}{a^{\alpha-1}}e^{-w}\frac{1}{a}dw$$
$$= \frac{e^{ax}}{a^{\alpha}}\frac{1}{\Gamma(a)}\int_{0}^{\infty}w^{\alpha-1}e^{-w}dw.$$
(3.47)

Notice that $\Gamma(w) = \int_0^\infty w^{\alpha-1} e^{-w} dw$. Therefore

$$I^{\alpha}\left(e^{ax}\right) = \frac{e^{ax}}{a^{\alpha}}.$$
(3.48)

3.5 Fractional Integrals of Sine and Cosine

We will start by using the Riemann-Liouville definition

$${}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}(\sin x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} \sin t dt.$$
(3.49)

Then, applying the Taylor series expansion of $\sin x$ yields

$${}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}(\sin x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^{2k+1}}{(2k+1)!} (-1)^{k} dt.$$
(3.50)

Interchanging the summation and the integral,

$${}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}(\sin x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{(-1)^{k}}{(2k+1)!} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{\alpha-1} t^{2k+1} dt \right].$$
(3.51)

Notice that $\frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_a^x (x-t)^{\alpha-1} t^{2k+1} dt =_a I_x^{\alpha} (x^{2k+1})$. Let v = 2k+1. When a = 0, we have

$${}_{a}I_{x}^{\alpha}\left(x^{2k+1}\right) = \frac{\Gamma(v+1)}{\Gamma(v+1+\alpha)}x^{v+\alpha}$$

$$= \frac{\Gamma(2k+\alpha)}{\Gamma(2k+2+\alpha)}x^{2k+1+\alpha}.$$
(3.52)

Therefore, equation (3.51) becomes:

$${}_{0}I_{x}^{\alpha}(\sin x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{(-1)^{k}}{(2k+1)!} \frac{\Gamma(2k+2)}{T(2k+2+\alpha)} x^{2k+1+\alpha} \right]$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{(-1)^{k}}{\Gamma(2k+2+\alpha)} x^{2k+1+\alpha} \right].$$
(3.53)

Example 3.6. When a = 0 and $\alpha = -1$, we have

$$I_x^{-1}(\sin x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k}{\Gamma(2k+1)} x^{2k}$$

= $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k}{(2k)!} x^{2k} = \cos x.$ (3.54)

Example 3.7. When a = 0 and $\alpha = 1$, we have

$${}_{0}I_{x}^{1}(\sin x) = \sum_{x=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{\Gamma(2k+3)} x^{2k+2}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{(2k+2)!} x^{2k+2}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k-1}}{(2k)!} x^{2k}$$

$$= -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k} x^{2k}}{(2k)!}$$

$$= -(\cos x - 1)$$

$$= 1 - \cos x$$
(3.55)

Let

$$G_{a}(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{\frac{1}{2}-1} (\sin t) dt$$

=_a $I_{x}^{\frac{1}{2}} (\sin x),$ (3.56)

Comparing the function $G_a(x)$, for various values of a, with the function $g(x) = \sin(x - \frac{\pi}{4})$, we notice that

$$\lim_{a \to -\infty} G_a(x) = g(x). \tag{3.57}$$

As a result, we can define the fractional integral of sine and cosine as

$$I^{\alpha}(\sin x) =_{-\infty} I^{\alpha}_{x}(\sin x) = \sin\left(x + \frac{\alpha\pi}{2}\right),$$

$$I^{\alpha}(\cos x) =_{-\infty} I^{\alpha}_{x}(\cos x) = \cos\left(x + \frac{\alpha\pi}{2}\right).$$
(3.58)

Chapter 4: Analytical solutions of Fractional Differential Equations

4.1 Laplace Adomian Decomposition Method

The Laplace Adomian Decomposition Method is a technique that generates an efficient approximate analytical solution for nonlinear systems of ordinary and partial differential equations [70].

Consider the following equation

$$D^{\alpha}y + f(y) = g(x), \quad \text{where } 1 < \alpha \le 2,$$

$$(4.1)$$

with the boundary conditions

$$y(0) = c, \quad y(1) = d.$$

The solution can be expressed as an infinite series of the form

$$y(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} y_n(x).$$
 (4.2)

The nonlinear term can be written as an infinite series of polynomials in y_n of the form

$$[f(y)] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n.$$
 (4.3)

and the A_n terms are called the Adomian polynomials and are given by the formula

$$A_n = \frac{1}{n!} \frac{d^n}{d\lambda^n} \left[N\left(\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \lambda^i y_i\right) \right]_{\lambda=0}, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(4.4)

Applying Laplace transform \mathcal{L} to both sides of equation (4.1), we obtain

$$\{L\} [D^{\alpha}y] + \mathcal{L}\{f(y)\} = \mathcal{L}\{g(x)\}.$$
(4.5)

Then, using Caputo's definition of fractional derivative and rearranging, we acquire the following

$$\frac{s^2 \mathcal{L}\{y\} - sy(0) - y'(0)}{s^{2-\alpha}} = \mathcal{L}\{g(x)\} - \mathcal{L}\{f(y)\}.$$
(4.6)

Substituting the boundary conditions y(0) = c, y(1) = d, we obtain the following

$$\frac{s^2 \mathcal{L}[y] - cs - k}{s^{2-\alpha}} + \mathcal{L}[f(y)] = \mathcal{L}[g(x)].$$
(4.7)

Rearranging the equation in terms of $\mathcal{L}{y}$ implies

$$\mathcal{L}\{y\} = \frac{c}{s} + \frac{k}{s^2} - \frac{1}{s^\alpha} \mathcal{L}\{f(y)\} + \frac{1}{s^\alpha} \mathcal{L}\{g(x)\}.$$
(4.8)

Substituting Equations (4.2) and (4.3) into (4.8) yields

$$\mathcal{L}\left\{\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} y_n\right\} = \frac{c}{s} + \frac{k}{s^2} - \frac{1}{s^{\alpha}} \mathcal{L}\left\{\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n\right\} + \frac{1}{s^{\alpha}} \mathcal{L}\{g(x)\}.$$
(4.9)

By applying the inverse Laplace, the recurrence relation is defined by

$$y_{0} = \mathcal{L}^{-1} \left\{ \frac{k}{s^{2}} + \frac{1}{s^{\alpha}} \mathcal{L} \{g(x)\} \right\},$$

$$y_{1} = \mathcal{L}^{-1} \left\{ -\frac{1}{s^{\alpha}} \mathcal{L} \{A_{0}\} \right\},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$y_{n+1} = \mathcal{L}^{-1} \left\{ -\frac{1}{s^{\alpha}} \mathcal{L} \{A_{n}\} \right\}.$$
(4.10)

In order to obtain the Adomian polynomials, we first write Taylor series expansion of the nonlinear function f(y) about y_0 to get

$$f(y) = f(y_0) + f'(y_0)(y - y_0) + \frac{1}{2!}f''(y_0)(y - y_0)^2 + \frac{1}{3!}f'''(y_0)(y - y_0)^3 + \dots$$
(4.11)

Substituting an expansion of Equation (4.2) into Equation (4.11) and simplifying imply

$$f(y) = f(y_0) + f'(y_0)(y_1 + y_2 + \ldots) + \frac{1}{2!}f''(y_0)(y_1 + y_2 + \ldots)^2 + \frac{1}{3!}f'''(y_0)(y_1 + y_2 + \ldots)^3 + \ldots$$
(4.12)

Expanding Equation (4.12)

$$f(y) = f(y_0) + f'(y_0) y_1 + f'(y_0) y_2 + \frac{1}{2!} f''(y_0) y_1^2 + f'(y_0) y_3 + \frac{2}{2!} f''(y_0) y_1 y_2 + \frac{1}{3!} f'''(y_0) y_1^3 + f'(y_0) y_4 + \frac{1}{2!} f''(y_0) y_2^2 + \frac{2}{2!} f''(y_0) y_1 y_3 + \frac{3}{3!} f'''(y_0) y_1^2 y_2 + \frac{1}{4!} f''''(y_0) y_1^4 + f'(y_0) y_4 + \frac{2}{2!} f''(y_0) y_2 y_3 + \frac{2}{2!} f''(y_0) y_1 y_4 + \frac{3}{3!} f'''(y_0) y_1 y_2^2 + \frac{3}{3!} f'''(y_0) y_1^2 y_3 + \frac{4}{4!} f''''(y_0) y_1^3 y_2 + \frac{1}{5!} f'(y_0) y_1^5 + \dots$$
(4.13)

Rearranging the terms based on their order will help extract the Adomian polynomials. The subscript of the Adomian polynomial needs to match all the terms with the same order [53]. So A_n includes all the terms in the series of order n. Therefore, the first six terms of the Adomian polynomials are as follows [57]

$$\begin{aligned} A_{0} &= f\left(y_{0}\right), \\ A_{1} &= f'\left(y_{0}\right)y_{1}, \\ A_{2} &= f'\left(y_{0}\right)y_{2} + \frac{1}{2!}f''\left(y_{0}\right)y_{1}^{2}, \\ A_{3} &= f'\left(y_{0}\right)y_{3} + \frac{2}{2!}f''\left(y_{0}\right)y_{1}y_{2} + \frac{1}{3!}f'''\left(y_{0}\right)y_{1}^{3}, \\ A_{4} &= f'\left(y_{0}\right)y_{4} + \frac{1}{2!}f''\left(y_{0}\right)\left(2y_{1}y_{3} + y_{2}^{2}\right) + \frac{3}{3!}f'''\left(y_{0}\right)y_{1}^{2}y_{2} + \frac{1}{4!}f''''\left(y_{0}\right)y_{1}^{4}, \\ A_{5} &= f'\left(y_{0}\right)y_{5} + \frac{1}{2!}f''\left(y_{0}\right)\left(2y_{1}y_{4} + 2y_{2}y_{3}\right) + \frac{1}{3!}f'''\left(y_{0}\right)\left(3y_{1}^{2}y_{3} + 3y_{1}y_{2}^{2}\right), \\ &+ \frac{4}{4!}f^{(4)}\left(y_{0}\right)y_{1}^{3}y_{2} + \frac{1}{5!}f^{(5)}\left(y_{0}\right)y_{1}^{5}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.14)$$

The general formula of the Adomian polynomials is given by

$$A_{n}(y_{0}, y_{1}, \dots, y_{n}) = \frac{1}{n!} \frac{d^{n}}{d\lambda^{n}} \left[N\left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} y_{k}\lambda^{k}\right) \right]_{\lambda=0}, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(4.15)

The Adomian Polynomial are obtained using the general formula as follows [57]

$$A_{0} = N(y_{0}),$$

$$A_{1} = \frac{d}{d\lambda}N(y_{0} + y_{1}\lambda)\big|_{\lambda=0} = N(y_{0})y_{1},$$

$$A_{2} = \frac{1}{2!}\frac{d}{d\lambda}\left((y_{1} + 2y_{2}\lambda)N''(y_{0} + y_{1}\lambda)\right)\big|_{\lambda=0} = N'(y_{0})y_{2} + \frac{1}{2!}N''(y_{0})y_{1}^{2},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$(4.16)$$

4.2 Fractional Differential Transformation Method

The Fractional Differential Transformation method is used to obtain an approximate analytical solution of linear and nonlinear ordinary differential equations of fractional order. It is based on Taylor series expansion that generates polynomials as the analytical solutions [64].

We recall that the fractional derivative of Reimann-Liouville is defined by

$$D_{x_0}^q f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(m-q)} \frac{\mathrm{d}^m}{\mathrm{d}x^m} \left[\int_{x_0}^x \frac{f(t)}{(x-t)^{1+q-m}} \,\mathrm{d}t \right],\tag{4.17}$$

where $m - 1 \leq q < m, m \in Z^+$ and $x > x_0$. By expanding the continuous analytical function f(x) as fractional power series we obtain the following [64]

$$f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} F(k) \left(x - x_0 \right)^{k/\alpha},$$
(4.18)

Where α is the fractional order and F(k) is representing the fractional differential transformation of f(x). The fractional derivative in the Caputo sense is defined to avoid the fractional initial and boundary conditions. The Riemann–Liouville fractional derivative and Caputo's fractional derivative have the following relationship

$$D_{*x_0}^q f(x) = D_{x_0}^q \left[f(x) - \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{1}{k!} \left(x - x_0 \right)^k f^{(k)}(x_0) \right].$$
 (4.19)

Let

$$f(x) = f(x) - \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{1}{k!} (x - x_0)^k f^{(k)}(x_0).$$
(4.20)

Substituting (4.20) into (4.17) and using (4.19), we obtain the Caputo's fractional derivative as follows

$$D_{*x_0}^q f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(m-q)} \frac{\mathrm{d}^m}{\mathrm{d}x^m} \left\{ \int_{x_0}^x \left[\frac{f(t) - \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} (1/k!) \left(t - x_0\right)^k f^{(k)}\left(x_0\right)}{(x-t)^{1+q-m}} \right] \mathrm{d}t \right\}.$$
(4.21)

The initial conditions, which are originally given as integer derivatives, are transformed as follows

$$F(k) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{(k/\alpha)!} \left[\frac{\mathbf{d}^{k/\alpha} f(x)}{\mathbf{d} x^{k/\alpha}} \right]_{x=x_0}, \text{ for } k = 0, 1, 2, \dots, (q\alpha - 1), \text{ if } \frac{k}{\alpha} \in Z^+ \\ 0 & \text{ if } \frac{k}{\alpha} \notin Z^+ \end{cases}$$
(4.22)

where q is the fractional order derivative. Using (4.17) and (4.18), we have the following results [64]

Theorem 4.2.1. If
$$f(x) = g(x) \pm h(x)$$
, then $F(k) = G(k) \pm H(k)$.
Theorem 4.2.2. If $f(x) = g(x)h(x)$, then $F(k) = \sum_{l=0}^{k} G(l)H(k-l)$.
Theorem 4.2.3. If $f(x) = g_1(x)g_2(x) \dots g_{n-1}(x)g_n(x)$, then
 $F(k) = \sum_{k_{n-1}=0}^{k} \sum_{k_{n-2}=0}^{k_{n-1}} \dots \sum_{k_{2}=0}^{k_3} \sum_{k_{1}=0}^{k_2} G_1(k_1) G_2(k_2 - k_1) \dots G_{n-1}(k_{n-1} - k_{n-2}) G_n(k - k_{n-2})$.
Theorem 4.2.4. If $f(x) = (x - x_0)^p$, then $F(k) = \delta(k - \alpha p)$ where $\delta(k) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } k = 0 \\ 0, & \text{if } k \neq 0. \end{cases}$.

Theorem 4.2.5. If
$$f(x) = D_{x_0}^q[g(x)]$$
, then $F(k) = \frac{\Gamma(q+1+k/\alpha)}{\Gamma(1+k/\alpha)}G(k+\alpha q)$.

Theorem 4.2.6. If the product of the general form of fractional derivatives,

$$f(x) = \frac{\mathrm{d}^{q_1}}{\mathrm{d}x^{q_1}} \left[g_1(x) \right] \frac{\mathrm{d}^{q_2}}{\mathrm{d}x^{q_2}} \left[g_2(x) \right] \cdots \frac{\mathrm{d}^{q_{n-1}}}{\mathrm{d}x^{q_{n-1}}} \left[g_{n-1}(x) \right] \frac{\mathrm{d}^{q_n}}{\mathrm{d}x^{q_n}} \left[g_n(x) \right],$$

then

$$F(k) = \sum_{k_{n-1}=0}^{k} \sum_{k_{n-2}=0}^{k_{n-1}} \cdots \sum_{k_{2}=0}^{k_{3}} \sum_{k_{1}=0}^{k_{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(q_{1}+1+k_{1}/\alpha\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+k_{1}/\alpha\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left[q_{2}+1+\left(k_{2}-k_{1}\right)/\alpha\right]}{\Gamma\left[1+\left(k_{2}-k_{1}\right)/\alpha\right]}$$
$$\cdots \frac{\Gamma\left[q_{n-1}+1+\left(k_{n-1}-k_{n-2}\right)/\alpha\right]}{\Gamma\left[1+\left(k_{n-1}-k_{n-2}\right)/\alpha\right]} \frac{\Gamma\left[q_{n}+1+\left(k-k_{n-1}\right)/\alpha\right]}{\Gamma\left[1+\left(k-k_{n-1}\right)/\alpha\right]} G_{1}\left(k_{1}+\alpha q_{1}\right)$$
$$\times G_{2}\left(k_{2}-k_{1}+\alpha q_{2}\right)\cdots G_{n-1}\left(k_{n-1}-k_{n-2}+\alpha q_{n-1}\right)$$
$$\times G_{n}\left(k-k_{n-1}+\alpha q_{n}\right).$$
$$(4.23)$$

where $\alpha q_i \in Z^+$ for i = 1, 2, 3, ... n.

Example 4.1. We consider the system of fractional differential equations [64]

$$D_*^{\beta} x(t) = x(t) + y(t)$$

$$D_*^{\gamma} y(t) = -x(t) + y(t),$$
(4.24)

subject to the initial conditions

$$x(0) = 0, \quad y(0) = 1.$$
 (4.25)

Applying Theorem 1 and Theorem 5, we transform the system (4.24)

$$X(k + \beta\alpha_1) = \frac{\Gamma(1+k/\alpha_1)}{\Gamma(\beta+1+k/\alpha_1)} [X(k) + Y(k)],$$

$$Y(k + \gamma\alpha_2) = \frac{\Gamma(1+k/\alpha_2)}{\Gamma(\gamma+1+k/\alpha_2)} [-X(k) + Y(k)],$$
(4.26)

where α_1 is the unknown values of the fraction β and α_2 is the unknown values of the fraction γ . Transforming the initial conditions in (4.25), we get

$$X(k) = 0 \quad \text{for } k = 0, 1, \dots, \beta \alpha_1 - 1,$$

$$Y(k) = 0 \quad \text{for } k = 1, \dots, \gamma \alpha_2 - 1,$$

$$Y(0) = 1.$$
(4.27)

We calculate X(k) and Y(k) using (4.26) and (4.27) up to k = 10, with $\beta = 1$ and $\gamma = 1$. Then, using (4.18), we obtain x(t) and y(t) as follows

$$x(t) = t + t^{2} + \frac{t^{3}}{3} - \frac{t^{5}}{30} - \frac{t^{6}}{90} - \frac{t^{7}}{630} + \frac{t^{9}}{22680} + \frac{t^{10}}{113400} + \cdots$$

$$y(t) = 1 + t - \frac{t^{3}}{3} - \frac{t^{4}}{6} - \frac{t^{5}}{30} + \frac{t^{7}}{630} + \frac{t^{8}}{2520} + \frac{t^{9}}{22680} + \cdots$$
(4.28)

Example 4.2. We consider the following system [64]

$$D_*^{1.3}y_1 = y_1 + y_2^2,$$

$$D_*^{2.4}y_2 = y_1 + 5y_2,$$
(4.29)

subject to the initial conditions

$$y_1(0) = 0, \quad y'_1(0) = 1, \quad y_2(0) = 0, \quad y'_2(0) = 1, \quad y''_2(0) = 1.$$
 (4.30)

Transforming the system (4.29), we obtain

$$Y_{1}(k+13) = \frac{\Gamma(1+k/10)}{\Gamma(1.3+1+k/10)} \left[Y_{1}(k) + \sum_{k_{1}=0}^{k} Y_{2}(k_{1}) Y_{2}(k-k_{1}) \right],$$

$$Y_{2}(k+24) = \frac{\Gamma(1+k/10)}{\Gamma(2.4+1+k/10)} \left[Y_{1}(k) + 5Y_{2}(k) \right].$$
(4.31)

Transforming the initial conditions in (4.30), we have

$$Y_{1}(k) = 0, \quad \text{for } k = 0, 1, \dots, 9, 11, 12$$

$$Y_{1}(10) = 1,$$

$$Y_{2}(k) = 0, \quad \text{for } k = 0, \dots, 9, 11, \dots, 19, 21, 22, 23,$$

$$Y_{2}(10) = 1, \quad Y_{2}(20) = \frac{1}{2}.$$

(4.32)

Hence we obtain the series solution $y_1(k)$ and $y_2(k)$ using (4.30) and (4.32) with iterations up to k = 50 as follows

$$y_{1}(t) = t + \frac{t^{23/10}}{\Gamma(\frac{33}{10})} + \frac{2t^{33/10}}{\Gamma(\frac{43}{10})} + \frac{t^{18/5}}{\Gamma(\frac{23}{5})} + \frac{6t^{43/10}}{\Gamma(\frac{53}{10})} + \frac{2t^{23/5}}{\Gamma(\frac{28}{5})} + \cdots,$$

$$y_{2}(t) = t + \frac{t^{2}}{2} + \frac{6t^{17/15}}{\Gamma(\frac{22}{5})} + \frac{5t^{22/5}}{\Gamma(\frac{27}{5})} + \frac{t^{47/10}}{\Gamma(\frac{57}{10})} + \cdots$$
(4.33)

4.3 Padé Approximation

Padé approximation $P_M^N(x) = [M/N]$ is a procedure that expands a function as a ratio of two power series. It provides a better approximation of a function than Taylor series especially when it contain poles.

$$P_M^N(x) = \frac{\sum_{n=0}^N a_n x^n}{\sum_{n=0}^M b_n x^n}.$$
(4.34)

We can normalize the approximation by using $b_0 = 1$ to generalize the Taylor series expansion. Hence

$$T_{M+N}(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{M+N} c_n x^n.$$
(4.35)

The coefficients of Padé approximation can be found from Taylor series expansion

$$c_0 + c_1 x + c_2 x^2 + \ldots = \frac{a_0 + a_1 x + a_2 x^2 + \ldots}{1 + b_1 x + b_2 x^2 + \ldots}.$$
(4.36)

Equivalently, we have

$$a_{0} = c_{0},$$

$$a_{1} = c_{1} + c_{0}b_{1},$$

$$a_{2} = c_{2} + c_{1}b_{1} + c_{0}b_{2},$$

$$a_{3} = c_{3} + c_{2}b_{1} + c_{1}b_{2} + c_{0}b_{3},$$

$$\vdots$$
(4.37)

In order to solve the system, we need to specify the degree of the numerator and the denominator to be N and M, respectively. Moreover, the degree of the truncated Taylor series expansion is determined to be M + N.

Example 4.3. The [2/2] Padé approximation of sin x is

$$\sin x \approx \frac{A_0 + A_1 x + A_2 x^2}{B_0 + B_1 x + B_2 x^2} = x - \frac{x^3}{6} + O\left(x^5\right).$$
(4.38)

Then, by letting $B_0 = 1$, we have

$$A_{0} + A_{1}x + A_{2}x^{2} = \left(1 + B_{1}x + B_{2}x^{2}\right)\left(x - \frac{x^{3}}{6} + O\left(x^{5}\right)\right)$$

= $x + B_{1}x^{2} + B_{2}x^{3} - \frac{x^{3}}{6} - B_{1}\frac{x^{4}}{6} + O\left(x^{5}\right).$ (4.39)

Equating the coefficients, we obtain that

$$A_0 = 0, \quad A_1 = 1, \quad A_2 = B_1,$$

 $B_2 = \frac{1}{6}, \quad B_1 = 0 = A_2,$

Substituting the values back in the [2/2] Padé approximation yields

$$P_2^2(x) = \frac{x}{1 + \frac{x^2}{6}}.$$
(4.40)

This technique helps in minimizing the error and enables finding a better approximation than Taylor approximation. Laplace Decomposition Method and the Differential Transformation Method generate accurate solutions only over small domains. Therefore, when dealing with large domains, combining the two methods with Padé approximation prevents obtaining a divergent series solution [62].

Chapter 5: Applications

5.1 Enzyme Inhibitor Reaction Model

Mathematical modeling for enzyme inhibitor systems plays an important role in system biology. The model consists of seven chemical components and thirteen chemical kinetic constants [58].

Figure 5.1: A complex Enzyme Inhibitor Reaction Model

The components S stands for substrate, E for enzyme, P for product and I for inhibition. In addition, EI, ES and ESI represent the complex intermediate species. The seven variables will be denoted by S=[S], E=[E], P=[P], I=[I], C_1 =[ES], C_2 =[EI] and C_3 =[ESI]. The system of the nonlinear differential equations based on the mass action law can be written as:

$$\frac{dE}{dt} = -k_1 ES + k_2 C_1 + k_3 C_1 - k_4 EI + k_5 C_2 S,$$

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = -k_1 ES + k_2 C_1 + k_4 EI - k_5 C_2 S - k_8 C_2 S + k_9 c_3$$

$$\frac{dC_1}{dt} = k_1 ES - k_2 C_1 - k_3 C_1 - k_6 C_1 I + k_7 C_3,$$

$$\frac{dP}{dt} = k_3 C_1,$$

$$\frac{dI}{dt} = -k_4 EI + k_5 C_2 S - k_6 C_1 I + k_7 C_3,$$

$$\frac{dC_2}{dt} = k_4 EI - k_5 C_2 S - k_8 C_2 S + k_9 C_3,$$

$$\frac{dC_3}{dt} = k_6 C_1 I - k_7 C_3 + k_8 C_2 S - k_9 C_3,$$
(5.1)

We will take the complex enzyme inhibitor reaction model (5.1) and apply fractional order system since it would be more realistic to take memory and hereditary properties into account. It will result in having the following fractional differential equations.

$$D_{t}^{\alpha}E = -k_{1}ES + k_{2}C_{1} + k_{3}C_{1} - k_{4}EI + k_{5}C_{2}S,$$

$$D_{t}^{\alpha}S = -k_{1}ES + k_{2}C_{1} + k_{4}EI - k_{5}C_{2}S - k_{8}C_{2}S + k_{9}c_{3},$$

$$D_{t}^{\alpha}I = -k_{4}EI + k_{5}C_{2}S - k_{6}C_{1}I + k_{7}C_{3},$$

$$D_{t}^{\alpha}P = k_{3}C_{1}$$

$$D_{t}^{\alpha}C_{1} = k_{1}ES - k_{2}C_{1} - k_{3}C_{1} - k_{6}C_{1}I + k_{7}C_{3},$$

$$D_{t}^{\alpha}C_{2} = k_{4}EI - k_{5}C_{2}S - k_{8}C_{2}S + k_{9}C_{3},$$

$$D_{t}^{\alpha}C_{3} = k_{6}C_{1}I - k_{7}C_{3} + k_{8}C_{2}S - k_{9}C_{3},$$
(5.2)

where $0 < \alpha \leq 1$.

5.1.1 Solution Via Laplace Decomposition Method The system (5.2) will be solved analytically using Laplace Adomian Decomposition Method subject to the following initial conditions

$$E(0) = e_0, \ S(0) = s_0, \ I(0) = i_0 \ and \ C_1(0) = C_2(0) = C_3(0) = P(0) = 0,$$
 (5.3)

and the parameters K_1, K_2, \ldots, K_9 represent the rate constants. We start by applying Laplace to both sides of equation (5.2), we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}[D_{t}^{\alpha}E] = \mathcal{L}[-k_{1}ES + k_{2}C_{1} + k_{3}C_{1} - k_{4}EI + k_{5}C_{2}S],$$

$$\mathcal{L}[D_{t}^{\alpha}S] = \mathcal{L}[-k_{1}ES + k_{2}C_{1} + k_{4}EI - k_{5}C_{2}S - k_{8}C_{2}S + k_{9}c_{3}],$$

$$\mathcal{L}[D_{t}^{\alpha}I] = \mathcal{L}[-k_{4}EI + k_{5}C_{2}S - k_{6}C_{1}I + k_{7}C_{3}],$$

$$\mathcal{L}[D_{t}^{\alpha}P] = \mathcal{L}[k_{3}C_{1}],$$

$$\mathcal{L}[D_{t}^{\alpha}C_{1}] = \mathcal{L}[k_{1}ES - k_{2}C_{1} - k_{3}C_{1} - k_{6}C_{1}I + k_{7}C_{3}],$$

$$\mathcal{L}[D_{t}^{\alpha}C_{2}] = \mathcal{L}[k_{4}EI - k_{5}C_{2}S - k_{8}C_{2}S + k_{9}C_{3}],$$

$$\mathcal{L}[D_{t}^{\alpha}C_{3}] = \mathcal{L}[k_{6}C_{1}I - k_{7}C_{3} + k_{8}C_{2}S - k_{9}C_{3}],$$

which implies that for $\alpha = 1$

$$s^{\alpha}\mathcal{L}[E] - s^{\alpha-1}E(0) = \mathcal{L}[-k_{1}ES + k_{2}C_{1} + k_{3}C_{1} - k_{4}EI + k_{5}C_{2}S],$$

$$s^{\alpha}\mathcal{L}S] - s^{\alpha-1}S(0) = \mathcal{L}[-k_{1}ES + k_{2}C_{1} + k_{4}EI - k_{5}C_{2}S - k_{8}C_{2}S + k_{9}c_{3}],$$

$$s^{\alpha}\mathcal{L}[I] - s^{\alpha-1}I(0) = \mathcal{L}[-k_{4}EI + k_{5}C_{2}S - k_{6}C_{1}I + k_{7}C_{3}],$$

$$s^{\alpha}\mathcal{L}[P] - s^{\alpha-1}P(0) = \mathcal{L}[k_{3}C_{1}],$$

$$s^{\alpha}\mathcal{L}[C_{1}] - s^{\alpha-1}C_{1}(0) = \mathcal{L}[k_{1}ES - k_{2}C_{1} - k_{3}C_{1} - k_{6}C_{1}I + k_{7}C_{3}],$$

$$s^{\alpha}\mathcal{L}[C_{2}] - s^{\alpha-1}C_{2}(0) = \mathcal{L}[k_{4}EI - k_{5}C_{2}S - k_{8}C_{2}S + k_{9}C_{3}],$$

$$s^{\alpha}\mathcal{L}[C_{3}] - s^{\alpha-1}C_{3}(0) = \mathcal{L}[k_{6}C_{1}I - k_{7}C_{3} + k_{8}C_{2}S - k_{9}C_{3}].$$
(5.5)

Taking the inverse Laplace and using the initial conditions

$$E(0) = 0.1, S(0) = 0.2, I(0) = 0.01, P(0) = C_1(0) = C_2(0) = C_3(0) = 0,$$
 (5.6)

we obtain the following

$$E(t) = E_0 + \mathcal{L}^{-1} [\frac{1}{s} \mathcal{L} [-k_1 E S + k_2 C_1 + k_3 C_1 - k_4 E I + k_5 C_2 S]],$$

$$S(t) = S_0 + \mathcal{L}^{-1} [\frac{1}{s} \mathcal{L} [-k_1 E S + k_2 C_1 + k_4 E I - k_5 C_2 S - k_8 C_2 S + k_9 c_3]],$$

$$I(t) = I_0 + \mathcal{L}^{-1} [\frac{1}{s} \mathcal{L} [-k_4 E I + k_5 C_2 S - k_6 C_1 I + k_7 C_3]],$$

$$P(t) = \mathcal{L}^{-1} [\frac{1}{s} \mathcal{L} [k_3 C_1]],$$

$$C_1(t) = \mathcal{L}^{-1} [\frac{1}{s} \mathcal{L} [k_1 E S - k_2 C_1 - k_3 C_1 - k_6 C_1 I + k_7 C_3]],$$

$$C_2(t) = \mathcal{L}^{-1} [\frac{1}{s} \mathcal{L} [k_4 E I - k_5 C_2 S - k_8 C_2 S + k_9 C_3]],$$

$$C_3(t) = \mathcal{L}^{-1} [\frac{1}{s} \mathcal{L} [k_6 C_1 I - k_7 C_3 + k_8 C_2 S - k_9 C_3]].$$
(5.7)

Assuming the solutions $E(t), S(t), I(t), P(t), C_1(t), C_2(t)$ and $C_3(t)$ are infinite power series [59], we get:

$$E(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} E_n(t), \qquad S(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} S_n(t), \qquad I(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(t), \qquad E(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} E_n(t),$$

$$C_1(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C_{1,n}(t), \quad C_2(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C_{2,n}(t), \quad C_3(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C_{3,n}(t),$$

(5.8)

The nonlinear terms ES(t), EI(t), $C_1(t)$ and $C_2(t)$ are obtained from Adomian polynomials and are given by

$$ES(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_{1,n} = \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{d}{d\lambda}\right)^n \left(\sum_{k=0}^n \lambda^k E_k \sum_{k=0}^n \lambda^k S_k\right)\Big|_{\lambda=0},$$

$$EI(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_{2,n} = \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{d}{d\lambda}\right)^n \left(\sum_{k=0}^n \lambda^k E_k \sum_{k=0}^n \lambda^k I_k\right)\Big|_{\lambda=0},$$

$$C_1(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_{3,n} = \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{d}{d\lambda}\right)^n \left(\sum_{k=0}^n \lambda^k C_{1,k} \sum_{k=0}^n \lambda^k S_k\right)\Big|_{\lambda=0},$$

$$C_2(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_{4,n} = \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{d}{d\lambda}\right)^n \left(\sum_{k=0}^n \lambda^k C_{2,k} \sum_{k=0}^n \lambda^k I_k\right)\Big|_{\lambda=0}.$$

(5.9)

5.2 Numerical Results

In this section, we solve the system using Laplace Decomposition Method and The Differential Transformation Method. We discuss two examples where the nonlinear reaction system (5.2) is solved for two different sets of parameters and initial conditions.

Example 5.1. We solve the system (5.2) for the integer derivative $\alpha = 1$ subject to the following initial conditions

$$E(0) = 0.1, S(0) = 0.2, I(0) = 0.01, P(0) = C_1(0) = C_2(0) = C_3(0) = 0,$$
 (5.10)

and the parameters k_i for i = 1, 2, 3...9 are

$$k_1 = 0.1, k_2 = 2, k_3 = 0.4, k_4 = 0.9, k_5 = 1, k_6 = 0.4, k_7 = 0.9, k_8 = 0.2, k_9 = 0.5$$

(5.11)

The Laplace Decomposition Method and the Differential Transformation Method give identical solutions when $\alpha = 1$. The analytical expressions of the nonlinear biochemical reaction system are as follow

$$E(t) = 0.1 - 0.0029t + 0.00077805t^{2} - 0.000152t^{3} + 0.000024t^{4} - 0.000003t^{5},$$

$$S(t) = 0.2 - 0.0011t + 0.000073t^{2} - 0.000024t^{3} + 0.000004t^{4} - 0.0000003t^{5},$$

$$I(t) = 0.01 - 0.0009t + 0.00014t^{2} - 0.000011t^{3} - 0.000001t^{4} + 0.0000007t^{5},$$

$$P(t) = 0.0004t^{2} - 0.000085t^{3} + 0.000014t^{4} - 0.000002t^{5} + 0.000003t^{6},$$

$$C_{1}(t) = 0.002t - 0.000639t^{2} + 0.000141t^{3} - 0.000025t^{4} + 0.000004t^{5},$$

$$C_{2}(t) = 0.0009t - 0.00016155t^{2} + 0.000024t^{3} - 0.000004t^{4} + 0.000001t^{5},$$

$$C_{3}(t) = 0.000022t^{2} - 0.000014t^{3} + 0.000005t^{4} - 0.00002t^{5} + 0.000004t^{6}.$$

(5.12)

Also, the solutions strongly agree with the results obtained from RK4. We notice that the analytical solution is an exact fit to the numerical solution. Moreover, when solving the nonlinear fractional system (5.2) with respect to the initial conditions (5.11) using LDM and DTM where $\alpha = 1$, we noticed that the solutions obtained from these methods were identical for all variables. The analytical solution curves are presented in Figure 5.2 (a-g).



(g) Intermediate Species ESI

Figure 5.2: Analytical and numerical solution curves of the system (5.2) when $\alpha = 1$.

The considered system (5.2) is also solved for the fractional derivatives when $\alpha = 0.9$ and $\alpha = 0.8$. Figure 5.3 (a-g) present the analytical solution curves for the fractional values of α . One can clearly see strong agreements between LDM and DTM.



(g) Intermediate Species ESI

Figure 5.3: Analytical solution curves of the system (5.2) when $\alpha = 1$, $\alpha = 0.9$ and $\alpha = 0.8$. The dotted and solid curves correspond to the solutions of DTM and the LDM respectively.

The analytical expression solution of the nonlinear biochemical reaction system (5.2) when $\alpha = 0.9$ is

$$\begin{split} E(t) &= 0.1 - 0.003015t^{\frac{9}{10}} + 0.000852t^{\frac{19}{10}} - 0.000172t^{\frac{29}{10}} + 0.000028t^{\frac{39}{10}} - 0.000004t^{\frac{49}{10}} \\ S(t) &= 0.2 - 0.001144t^{\frac{9}{10}} + 0.00008t^{\frac{19}{10}} - 0.000027t^{\frac{29}{10}} + 0.000004t^{\frac{39}{10}} - 0.0000003t^{\frac{49}{10}} \\ I(t) &= 0.01 - 0.000936t^{\frac{9}{10}} + 0.000153t^{\frac{19}{10}} - 0.000012t^{\frac{29}{10}} - 0.000001t^{\frac{39}{10}} + 0.0000009t^{\frac{49}{10}} \\ P(t) &= 0.000438t^{\frac{19}{10}} - 0.000096t^{\frac{29}{10}} + 0.000016t^{\frac{39}{10}} - 0.000002t^{\frac{49}{10}} + 0.0000003t^{\frac{59}{10}} \\ C_1(t) &= 0.00208t^{\frac{9}{10}} - 0.000699t^{\frac{19}{10}} + 0.00016t^{\frac{29}{10}} - 0.000029t^{\frac{39}{10}} + 0.000005t^{\frac{49}{10}} \\ C_2(t) &= 0.000936t^{\frac{9}{10}} - 0.000177t^{\frac{19}{10}} + 0.000028t^{\frac{29}{10}} - 0.000005t^{\frac{39}{10}} + 0.000001t^{\frac{49}{10}} \\ C_3(t) &= 0.000024t^{\frac{19}{10}} - 0.000016t^{\frac{29}{10}} + 0.000006t^{\frac{39}{10}} - 0.000002t^{\frac{49}{10}} + 0.000005t^{\frac{59}{10}} \\ (5.13) \end{split}$$

and for $\alpha = 0.8$, the solution becomes

$$\begin{split} E(t) &= 0.1 - 0.003114t^{\frac{4}{5}} + 0.000929t^{\frac{9}{5}} - 0.000194t^{\frac{14}{5}} + 0.000032t^{\frac{19}{5}} - 0.000005t^{\frac{24}{5}} \\ S(t) &= 0.2 - 0.001181t^{\frac{4}{5}} + 0.000087t^{\frac{9}{5}} - 0.00003t^{\frac{14}{5}} + 0.00005t^{\frac{19}{5}} - 0.000004t^{\frac{24}{5}} \\ I(t) &= 0.01 - 0.000966t^{\frac{4}{5}} + 0.000166t^{9}5 - 0.000014t^{\frac{14}{5}} - 0.0000016t^{\frac{19}{5}} + 0.000001t^{\frac{24}{5}} \\ P(t) &= 0.000477t^{\frac{9}{5}} - 0.000109t^{\frac{14}{5}} + 0.000019t^{\frac{19}{5}} - 0.000003t^{\frac{24}{5}} \\ C_1(t) &= 0.002147t^{\frac{4}{5}} - 0.000762t^{\frac{9}{5}} + 0.00018t^{\frac{14}{5}} - 0.000034t^{\frac{19}{5}} + 0.000006t^{\frac{24}{5}} \\ C_2(t) &= 0.000966t^{\frac{4}{5}} - 0.000193t^{\frac{9}{5}} + 0.000031t^{\frac{14}{5}} - 0.000001t^{\frac{19}{5}} + 0.000001t^{\frac{24}{5}} \\ C_3(t) &= 0.000026t^{\frac{9}{5}} - 0.000017t^{\frac{14}{5}} + 0.000007t^{\frac{19}{5}} - 0.000002t^{\frac{24}{5}} + 0.000001t^{\frac{29}{5}} \\ (5.14) \end{split}$$

The actual variations for the fractional cases between the Laplace Decomposition Method and Differential Transformation Method when $\alpha = 0.9$ and $\alpha = 0.8$ are shown in Table 5.2 and 5.1.

Concentration	Max difference	Occurred at x
Enzyme	0.0000843	0.850
Substrate	0.0000049	0.600
Inhibition	0.0000206	1.000
Production	0.0000408	0.825
Complex ES	0.0000643	0.825
Complex EI	0.0000208	1.950
Complex ESI	0.0000009	0.450

Table 5.1: Maximum variation between LDM and DTM computed concentrations when $\alpha = 0.8$

Table 5.2: Maximum variation between LDM and DTM computed concentrations when $\alpha = 0.9$

Concentration	Max difference	Occurred at x
Enzyme	0.0000424	1.000
Substrate	0.0000024	0.007
Inhibition	0.0000103	1.000
Production	0.0000205	0.925
Complex ES	0.0000323	0.925
Complex EI	0.0000105	1.000
Complex ESI	0.0000004	0.525

Example 5.2. We solve the system (5.2) subject to the following initial conditions

$$E(0) = 12, S(0) = 5, I(0) = 2, P(0) = C_1(0) = C_2(0) = C_3(0) = 0,$$
 (5.15)

and where the $k'_i s$ are given by

$$k_1 = 0.1, k_2 = 0.2, k_3 = 0.04, k_4 = 0.19, k_5 = 0.1, k_6 = 0.4, k_7 = 0.09, k_8 = 0.22, k_9 = 0.05,$$

(5.16)

The nonlinear system (5.2) is solved with respect to parameters (5.16) and subject to initial conditions (5.15) using the two methods. When $\alpha = 1$, the analytical series solutions for LDM and DTM are identical. However, the series solution diverges over a small time domain. We can control this divergence using Padé approximation. The figures 5.4 and 5.5 show how Padé approximation helps overcoming the divergence obstacle.



Figure 5.4: Analytical concentration curve of Enzyme E(t) for the system (5.2) with initial conditions (5.15) and parameters (5.16)



Figure 5.5: Analytical concentration curve of Substrate S(t) for the system (5.2) with initial conditions (5.15) and parameters (5.16).

The nonlinear system (5.2) is also solved when $\alpha = 0.8$ and $\alpha = 0.9$ with respect to parameters (5.16) and subject to initial conditions (5.15) using LDM and DTM. Figure (5.6) (a-g) shows how these methods are in strong agreement for the fractional cases of α for all seven variables.



(g) Intermediate Species ESI

Figure 5.6: Analytical and numerical solution curves of the system (5.2) when $\alpha = 1$, $\alpha = 0.9$ and $\alpha = 0.8$.

5.3 COVID-19 Model

COVID-19 is a worldwide pandemic that was first discovered in December 2019 in Wuhan province of China. It started emerging worldwide in the beginning of 2020 caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus and has been spreading globally since then. Scientists are learning more about this virus every day since it is so new. It can cause serious illness and even death, despite the fact that most people who have it have moderate symptoms. Mathematical models are important for understanding how an infection behaves as it reaches a population and determining if it can be eradicated or not. Based on some research done, we conclude that human to human contact could be the most important cause of the outbreak of COVID-19 [60]. Hence, isolating infected people was taken into account to potentially reduce the spread of the disease. Based on this, A model is constructed based on five compartments: susceptible, exposed, infected, isolated and recovered.

Parameter	sValue[61]	Description
S	1.0	Susceptible population
Е	1.0	Exposed population
Ι	0.00002	Infected population
Q	0.000095	Isolated population
R	0.000095	Recovered population
β	0.000002	Rate at which susceptible population moves to infected and exposed class
π	0.00567	Rate at which exposed population moves to infected one
γ	0.000095	Presents the rate at which exposed people take onside as isolated
σ	0.0028404	Rate at which infected people were added to isolated individual
θ	0.000095	Rate at which isolated persons recovered
μ	0.000001	Natural death rate plus disease-related death rate

Table 5.3: Parameters and description

The parameters used in our model are presented in Table (5.3) that contributed in controlling the infection. In this section, we study a nonlinear fractional model of COVID-19. We will use The Laplace Decomposition Method and the Differential Transformation Method. It is a powerful technique used to get an approximate solution of the considered system. Furthermore, The two methods presented can be coupled with Padé approximation to avoid divergent solution over large intervals and to obtain convergent series solutions [62]. In addition, a comparison will be made with fourth-order Runge-Kutta method.

The epidemic mathematical model with respect to the parameters and variables in Table (5.3) is presented as follows[61]:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dS(t)}{dt} = A - \mu S(t) - \beta(N)S(t)(E(t) + I(t)) \\ \frac{dE(t)}{dt} = \beta(N)S(t)(E(t) + I(t)) - \pi E(t) - (\mu + \gamma)E(t) \\ \frac{dI(t)}{dt} = \pi E(t) - \sigma I(t) - \mu I(t), \\ \frac{dQ(t)}{dt} = \gamma E(t) + \sigma I(t) - \theta Q(t) - \mu Q(t) \\ \frac{dR(t)}{dt} = \theta Q(t) - \mu R(t) \end{cases}$$
(5.17)

We apply fractional derivatives to the model to get:

$$\begin{cases} D_{t}^{\alpha}S(t) = \mu - \mu S(t) - \beta(N)S(t)(E(t) + I(t)) \\ D_{t}^{\alpha}E(t) = \beta(N)S(t)(E(t) + I(t)) - \pi E(t) - (\mu + \gamma)E(t) \\ D_{t}^{\alpha}I(t) = \pi E(t) - \sigma I(t) - \mu I(t), \\ D_{t}^{\alpha}Q(t) = \gamma E(t) + \sigma I(t) - \theta Q(t) - \mu Q(t) \\ D_{t}^{\alpha}R(t) = \theta Q(t) - \mu R(t) \end{cases}$$
(5.18)

With respect to the initial conditions and parameter presented in Table (5.3).

We solved the nonlinear fractional system (5.18) with respect to the initial conditions presented in Table (5.3) using LDM and DTM where $\alpha = 1$. We noticed that the solutions obtained from these methods were identical for all variables. Furthermore, they strongly agree with the fourth-order Runge-Kutta method. The analytical solution curves are presented in Figure (5.7) (a-e).



Figure 5.7: Analytical solution curves of the system (5.18) when $\alpha = 1$, $\alpha = 0.9$ and $\alpha = 0.8$ where the dotted and solid curves correspond to the solutions of DTM and the LDM respectively.

The analytical expressions for the system (5.18) solved via LDM and DTM when $\alpha = 1$ is as follows:

$$S(t) = 1 + 0.000011t^{7} - 0.000316t^{5} + 0.008860t^{3} + 0.000143t^{2} - 0.298594t$$

$$E(t) = 1 + 0.000316t^{5} + 0.000024t^{4} - 0.008858t^{3} - 0.001109t^{2} + 0.291972t$$

$$I(t) = 0.00002 - 0.000013t^{4} - 2.872898 \times 10^{-6}t^{3} + 0.000820t^{2} + 0.005670t$$

$$Q(t) = 0.000095 - 2.105717 \times 10^{-6}t^{4} - 2.105717 \times 10^{-6}t^{4} + 0.000147t^{2} + 0.000950t$$

$$R(t) = 0.000095 + 4.645267 \times 10^{-9}t^{3} + 4.512726 \times 10^{-8}t^{2} + 8.93 \times 10^{-9}t$$
(5.19)

Over a larger time domain, we notice that the solution curves diverges over small time domain as shown in figure (5.8). However, the divergence is being controlled using [5/5] Padé approximation for each analytical solution. Figure (5.8) shows the divergent solution curve of S(t) obtained by RK4, LDM and DTM when $\alpha = 1$ while Figure (5.9) shows how using [5/5] Padé approximation fixes that obstacle.



Figure 5.8: Divergent solution of the system (5.18) when $\alpha = 1$ obtained from RK4, LDM and DTM without using Padé approximation.



Figure 5.9: Convergence solution of (5.18) when $\alpha = 1$ after being coupled with Padé approximation

In order to obtain a convergence solution over a bigger time domain, a larger order of Padé approximation is needed. Figures (5.10) (a-e) show the solution curves when $0 \le t \le 15$ where we used [13/12] Padé approximation to get the convergence solution. Tables 5.4 and 5.5 show the maximum error in DTM and LDM. Its obvious that the error decreases as we couple Padé approximation to the two methods and it decreases further more as we increase the terms of the series solution and we couple the methods with Padé approximation.



Figure 5.10: Analytical solution curve for the system (5.18) when $\alpha = 1$ and $0 \le t \le 15$ using [13/12] Padé approximation.

Population Maximum error in DTM		DTM followed by Padé	More terms of DTM followed by Padé
Susceptible	e46103.96	0.0085159	0.0021529
Exposed	16040.35	0.0030087	0.0068216
Infected	119.1669	0.0364303	0.0004470
Isolated	19.87663	0.0100607	0.0001102
Recovered	0.0004452	0.0000065	0.0000002

Table 5.4: Maximum error in DTM

Population Maximum error i	n LDM L	DM followed by Padé	More terms of LDM followed by Padé
Susceptible13492.98	0	.0700698	0.0152590
Exposed 13356.19	0	.0076430	0.0058501
Infected 117.2429	0	.0756698	0.0031094
Isolated 19.55336	0	.0242172	0.0007176
Recovered 0.0044967	0	.0000065	0.0000009

Table 5.5: Maximum error in LDM



Figure 5.11: Analytical solution curves of the system (5.18) when $\alpha = 1$, $\alpha = 0.9$ and $\alpha = 0.8$ where the dotted and solid curves correspond to the solutions of DTM and the LDM respectively.

The considered system (5.18) is also solved for the fractional derivatives when $\alpha = 0.9$ and $\alpha = 0.8$. Figure (5.11) presents the analytical solution curves for the fractional values of α where it shows strong agreements between LDM and DTM. Tables (5.6) and (5.7) show the actual variations between the LDM and DTM for the fractional case when $\alpha = 0.9$ and $\alpha = 0.8$.

Population	Maximim Variation	Occurred at x
Susceptible	0.011896467	0.400
Exposed	0.011632328	0.400
Infected	0.000233417	0.300
Isolated	0.000039366	0.400
Recovered	0.00000003	1.000

Table 5.6: Maximum variation between LDM and DTM when $\alpha = 0.9$

Table 5.7: Maximum variation between LDM and DTM when $\alpha = 0.8$

Population	Maximum Variation	Occurred at x
Susceptible	0.008916089	0.300
Exposed	0.025544899	0.300
Infected	0.000514733	0.300
Isolated	0.000086447	0.300
Recovered	0.000000006	1.000

Chapter 6: Conclusions and Future Work

In this thesis, we investigated the numerical solution of fractional differential equations with initial and boundary conditions. Laplace Decomposition Method and the Differential Transformation Method were implemented to obtain an analytical solution for a complex nonlinear fractional Enzyme Inhibitor Reaction Model and a complex nonlinear COVID-19 model. The two methods were in strong agreement with the fourth order Runge-Kutta method. Then the systems were solved for the fractional order when $\alpha = 0.9$ and $\alpha = 0.8$ where the two methods presented agreeable solutions. We also coupled the LDM and DTM with Padé approximation to obtain a convergent solution over a larger time interval. We can also acquire more accurate results by increasing the terms of the series solution. The proposed methods were employed to obtain highly accurate results for fractional differential equations. Furthermore, it helped us guarantee convergence, stability, and helped us reach a better understanding of the dynamical behavior of the systems.

References

- Kisela, T. (2008). Fractional differential equations and their applications. [Master's thesis, Brno University of Technology]. Faculty of Mechanical Engineering Institute of Mathematics:Brno-střed, Czech Republic.
- [2] Matlob, M., and Jamali, Y. (2019). The concepts and applications of fractional order differential calculus in modelling of viscoelastic systems: A primer. Institute for Research in Fundamental Sciences (IPM).
- [3] Ray, S. S., Atangana, A., Noutchie, S. C., Kurulay, M., Bildik, N., Kilicman, A. (2014). Fractional calculus and its applications in Applied Mathematics and other sciences. Mathematical Problems in Engineering, 1–2.
- [4] Lawson, D., and Marion, G. (2008). Introduction to mathematical modelling. Bioinformatics and Statistics Scotland.
- [5] Neumaier, A. (2004). Mathematical modeling: Modeling Languages in Mathematical Optimization. Applied Optimization, 88.
- [6] Shanthi, R., Chitra Devi, M., Abukhaled, M., Lyons, M.E.G., Rajendran, L., (2022). Mathematical modeling of ph-based potentiometric biosensor using akbarigan method, Int. J. Electrochem. Sci., 17, 220349
- [7] Chitra Devi, M., Pirabaharan, P., Rajendran, L. (2021) Amperometric biosensors in an uncompetitive inhibition processes: a complete theoretical and numerical analysis. Reac Kinet Mech Cat 133, 655–668.
- [8] Mary, M.L.C., Devi, M.C., Meena, A. (2021). Mathematical modeling of immobilized enzyme in porous planar, cylindrical, and spherical particle: a reliable semianalytical approach. Reac Kinet Mech Cat 134, 641–651.
- [9] Sadek, I., Abukhaled, M. (2013). Optimal control of thermoelastic beam vibrations by piezoelectric actuation. J. Control Theory Appl. 11, 463–467.
- [10] Abukhaled, M., Guessoum, N., Alsaeed, N. (2019). Mathematical modeling of light curves of RHESSI and AGILE terrestrial gamma-ray flashes. Astrophys Space Sci 364, 1-16.

- [11] Abukhaled, M., Allen, E., Guessoum, N., (2014). Testing Pulse Density Distribution for Terrestrial Gamma Ray Flashes, Journal of Geophysical Research: Space Physics 119, pp. 5918–5930.
- [12] Saravanakumar, S., Eswari, A., Rajendran, L., Abukhaled, M., (2020). A mathematical model of risk factors in HIV/AIDS transmission dynamics: observational study of female sexual network in India Appl. Math. Inf. Sci., 14, 967.
- [13] Selvi, M.S.M., Rajendran, L., Abukhaled, M. (2021). Estimation of Rolling Motion of Ship in Random Beam Seas by Efficient Analytical and Numerical Approaches. J. Marine. Sci. Appl. 20, 55–66.
- [14] S.T. Suganya, P. Balaganesan, L. Rajendran, M. Abukhaled, (2020). Analytical discussion and sensitivity analysis of parameters of magnetohydrodynamic free convective flow in an inclined plate, European Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics 13 (3), 631-644
- [15] van den Ende, M., Epskamp, S., Lees, M.H., Van der Maas, H., Wiers, R., Sloot, P. (2022). A review of mathematical modeling of addiction regarding both (neuro-) psychological processes and the social contagion perspectives, Addictive Behaviors 127, 107201.
- [16] Chaudhary, K., Alam, M., Al-Rakhami, M.S. (2021). Machine learning-based mathematical modelling for prediction of social media consumer behavior using big data analytics. J Big Data 8, 73.
- [17] Shumov, V.V., Korepanov, V.O., (2020). Mathematical models of combat and military operations, Computer research and modeling, 12, 217-343.
- [18] Allouche, J.P., Marcel Frémiot, (2018). Determinism Versus Chaos, and the Tower of Hanoi. Journal of Mathematics and Music 12, 258–264.
- [19] Plotnitsky A. (2021). On "Decisions and Revisions Which a Minute Will Reverse": Consciousness, The Unconscious and Mathematical Modeling of Thinking. Entropy (Basel). 23, 1026

- [20] Atangana, A., Secer, A. (2013). A note on fractional order derivatives and table of fractional derivatives of some special functions. Abstract and Applied Analysis, 2013, 1–8.
- [21] Machado, J. T., Kiryakova, V., Mainardi, F. (2011). Recent history of fractional calculus. Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation, 16(3), 1140–1153.
- [22] Benkhettou, N., Brito da Cruz, A. M. C., Torres, D. F. M. (2015). A fractional calculus on arbitrary time scales: Fractional differentiation and fractional integration. Signal Processing, 107, 230–237.
- [23] Sekara, T. B., Rapaic, M. R., Lazarevic, M. P. (2014). Optimal tuning of fractional PIDC α controller in the frequency domain. International Conference on Fractional Differentiation and Its Applications 2014.
- [24] Abukhaled, M. (2013). Variational iteration method for nonlinear singular two-point boundary value problems arising in human physiology. Journal of Mathematics, 2013, 1–4.
- [25] Khuri, S., Wazwaz, A.-M. (2013). A variational approach to a BVP arising in the modelling of electrically conducting solids. Open Engineering, 3(1).
- [26] Khuri, S. A., Wazwaz, A.-M. (2014). A variational approach for a class of nonlocal elliptic boundary value problems. Journal of Mathematical Chemistry, 52(5), 1324–1337.
- [27] Wazwaz, A.M., Khuri, S. A. (2015). The variational iteration method for solving the Volterra Integro-differential forms of the lane-emden and the Emden-Fowler problems with initial and boundary value conditions. Open Engineering, 5(1).
- [28] Khuri, S. A., Sayfy, A. (2012). A variational approach to a differential equation modeling thin-film flows and pertinent to Tanner's Law. Physica Scripta, 87(1), 015003.
- [29] Kafri, H. Q., Khuri, S. A. (2016). Bratu's problem: A novel approach using fixedpoint iterations and green's functions. Computer Physics Communications, 198, 97–104.

- [30] Abukhaled, M., Khuri, S. (2019). An efficient semi-analytical solution of a onedimensional curvature equation that describes the human corneal shape. Mathematical and Computational Applications, 24(1), 8.
- [31] Abukhaled, M. (2017). Green's function iterative approach for solving strongly nonlinear oscillators. Journal of Computational and Nonlinear Dynamics, 12(5).
- [32] Abukhaled, M., Khuri, S. A. (2017). A semi-analytical solution of amperometric enzymatic reactions based on Green's functions and fixed point iterative schemes. Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry, 792, 66–71.
- [33] Abukhaled, M. (2017). Green's function iterative method for solving a class of boundary value problems arising in heat transfer. Applied Mathematics Information Sciences, 11(1), 229–234.
- [34] Sayfy, A., Khuri, S. A., Kafri, H. Q. (2017). Bratu-like equation arising in electrospinning process: A Green's function fixed-point iteration approach. International Journal of Computing Science and Mathematics, 8(4), 364.
- [35] Khuri, S. A., Louhichi, I. (2018). A novel ishikawa–green's fixed point scheme for the solution of bvps. Applied Mathematics Letters, 82, 50–57.
- [36] Kafri, H. Q., Khuri, S. A., Sayfy, A. (2016). A new approach based on embedding Green's functions into fixed-point iterations for highly accurate solution to Troesch's problem. International Journal for Computational Methods in Engineering Science and Mechanics, 17(2), 93–105.
- [37] Ford, N., and Connolly, J. (2006). Comparison of numerical methods for fractional differential equations. Communications on Pure and Applied Analysis, 5(2), 289-307.
- [38] Haubold, H. J., Mathai, A. M., Saxena, R. K. (2011). Mittag-Leffler functions and their applications. Journal of Applied Mathematics, 2011, 1–51.
- [39] Shukla, A. K., Prajapati, J. C. (2007). On a generalization of Mittag-Leffler function and its properties. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, 336(2), 797–811.

- [40] Tarasova, V. V., Tarasov, V. E. (2017). Economic interpretation of fractional derivatives. Progress in Fractional Differentiation and Applications, 3(1), 1–6.
- [41] Dalir, M. and Bashour, M. (2010) Applications of Fractional Calculus. Applied Mathematical Sciences, 4, 1021-1032
- [42] Evans, R. M., Katugampola, U. N., Edwards, D. A. (2017). Applications of fractional calculus in solving abel-type integral equations: Surface–volume reaction problem. Computers Mathematics with Applications, 73(6), 1346–1362.
- [43] Weilbeer, M. (2005). Efficient numerical methods for fractional differential equations and their analytical background.
- [44] Debnath, L. (2004). A brief historical introduction to fractional calculus. International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology, 35(4), 487–501.
- [45] Abdulaziz, O., Hashim, I., Momani, S. (2008). Application of homotopy-perturbation method to fractional ivps. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 216(2), 574–584.
- [46] Wu, G. (2011). A fractional variational iteration method for solving fractional nonlinear differential equations. Computers, Mathematics with Applications, 61(8), 2186-2190.
- [47] Sakar, M. G., Saldır, O., Akgül, A. (2018). Numerical solution of fractional bratu type equations with Legendre reproducing kernel method. International Journal of Applied and Computational Mathematics, 4(5).
- [48] Jia, Y.-T., Xu, M.-Q., Lin, Y.-Z. (2016). A new algorithm for nonlinear fractional bvps. Applied Mathematics Letters, 57, 121–125.
- [49] Ghomanjani, F., Shateyi, S. (2017). Numerical solution for fractional Bratu's initial value problem. Open Physics, 15(1), 1045–1048.
- [50] Jafari, H., Daftardar-Gejji, V. (2006). Solving a system of nonlinear fractional differential equations Using Adomian decomposition. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 196(2), 644-651.

- [51] Arikoglu, A., Ozkol, I., (2007). Solution of fractional differential equations by using differential transform method. Chaos Solitons Fractals 34, 1473–1481
- [52] Assadi, R. (2019). Solutions of Fractional Differential Equations: Variation and Iteration Approach [Master's thesis, American University of Sharjah]. 11-49.
- [53] Alchikh, R. (2019). Solutions of Fractional Differential Equations: Transform and Iterative Methods Approach [Master's thesis, American University of Sharjah]. 11-15.
- [54] Rogosin, S. (2015). The role of the mittag-leffler function in fractional modeling. Mathematics, 3, 368-381.
- [55] Schiff, J. L. (2013). Laplace transform: Theory and applications. Springer-Verlag New York.
- [56] Das, S. (2014). Introduction to Fractional Calculus. In Functional Fractional Calculus (pp. 1-11). Berlin: Springer Berlin.
- [57] Abushammala, M. (2014).Iterative Methods of the Numerical Solution of Boundary Value Problems, 14-20.
- [58] Akgül, A., Khoshnaw, S. (2020). Application of fractional derivative on non-linear biochemical reaction models. International Journal of Intelligent Networks, 1, 52-58.
- [59] Haq, F., Shah, K., Ur Rahman, G., Shahzad, M. (2018). Numerical solution of fractional order smoking model via laplace adomian decomposition method. Alexandria Engineering Journal, 57(2), 1061-1069.
- [60] Shereen, M. A., Khan, S., Kazmi, A., Bashir, N., and Siddique R. (2020), "COVID-19 infection: Emergence, transmission, and characteristics of human coronaviruses," Journal of Advanced Research, vol. 24, pp. 91–98.
- [61] Zeb, A., Alzahrani, E., Erturk, V. S., Zaman,G. (2020) "Mathematical Model for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Containing Isolation Class," BioMed Research International, vol. 2020, pp. 1–7.

- [62] Ganjefar, S. and Rezaei, S. (2016) "Modified homotopy perturbation method for optimal control problems using the Padé approximant," Applied Mathematical Modelling, vol. 40, no. 15-16, pp. 7062–7081.
- [63] Area, I., Batarfi, H., Losada, J., Nieto, J. J., Shammakh, W., Torres, A. (2015). On a fractional order ebola epidemic model. Advances in Difference Equations, 2015(1).
- [64] Ertürk, V. S., Momani, S. (2008). Solving systems of fractional differential equations using differential transform method. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 215(1), 142-151.
- [65] El-Saka, H. (2014). The fractional-order Sis epidemic model with variable population size. Journal of the Egyptian Mathematical Society, 22(1), 50-54.
- [66] Hussain, F. (2015). Laplace Decomposition Method for the System of Linear and Non-Linear Ordinary Differential Equations. Vol.5(12), 124-133.
- [67] Javidi, M., Nyamoradi, N. (2013). Dynamic analysis of a fractional order prey-predator interaction with harvesting. Applied Mathematical Modelling, 37(20-21), 8946-8956.4
- [68] Malik, A., Kumar, N., Alam, K. (2021). Conformable fractional seir epidemic model with treatment. Recent Advances in Electrical, Electronic Engineering(Formerly Recent Patents on Electrical Electronic Engineering), 14.
- [69] Merad, A., Hadid, S. (2015). Homotpy Analysis Method for Solving Fractional Differential Equations. Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences. Aust. J. Basic Appl. Sci., 9:233–237.
- [70] Mohammed, O. H., Salim, H. A. (2018). Computational methods based laplace decomposition for solving nonlinear system of fractional order differential equations. Alexandria Engineering Journal, 57(4), 3549-3557.
- [71] Zhang, Z., Zeb, A., Alzahrani, E., and Iqbal, S., (2020) "Crowding effects on the dynamics of COVID-19 mathematical model," Advances in Difference Equations, vol. 2020, no. 1, 2020.

- [72] Abukhaled, M., Khuri, S., Rabah, F. (2022). Solution of a nonlinear fractional COVID-19 model. International Journal of Numerical Methods for Heat Fluid Flow.
- [73] Rabah, F., Abukhaled, M., Khuri, S. A. (2022). Solution of a complex nonlinear fractional biochemical reaction model. Mathematical and Computational Applications, 27(3), 45.

Vitae

Fatima Haitham Rabah was born on November 3, 1994, in Dubai, United Arab Emirates. She graduated with a bachelor degree in Mathematics from the American University of Sharjah. She started working as a High school teacher in some public and private schools. At the same time, She enrolled to persue a Master's degree in Mathematics at the American University of Sharjah. She also published two articles by collaborating with her advisors Dr. Marwan Abukhaled and Dr. Suheil Khoury.